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ABOUT LEE & MAN PAPER

Jiangsu Lee & Man
STRRIE X
(Changshu, & %)

Chongging Lee & Man
BEEEX
(Yongchuan, 7 JI|)

N/ <

Jiangxi Lee & Man
L P 3 X
(Jiujiang, 71.5T)
Guangdong Lee & Man w
BRE X
(Hongmei, 3t #§) .

Dongguan Lee & Man
8 REEX

(Huangyong, % 5%)

B3 A 3 3 AR

PRODUCTS =

Kraft Linerboard AT AR
Test Linerboard A AR

Vietham Lee & Man .
IR 4

R Coated Duplex Board 2B R

(Hau Giang, /5 5T) White Top Linerboard B T 41 4R

"_ High Strength Corrugating Medium = 58 FLA%S 5 4%
Pulp AN
Tissue Paper B
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Jiangsu Lee & Man
LRI X

Annual production 1.12 million tons of
capacity: paper
FERE - 1128 WA

Guangdong Lee & Man
BREX

Annual production 2.30 million tons of
capacity: paper
FER 2308 WAL

= ____—

@=hrx KA IR

Chongqing Lee & Man
BEEEX

Annual production 900,000 tons of paper,
capacity: 150,000 tons of pulp and
135,000 tons of tissue paper
0EWEA « 158 WES
K 13.5 88 WA & A 4R

Dongguan Lee & Man
REEX

Annual production 590,000 tons of
capacity: paper
FERE 59 & Mg 4K

Jiangxi Lee & Man
AREX

Annual production 320,000 tons of
capacity: paper
FERE 32 & WA AR
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

AFEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive director

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond 8ss jp (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Bun mH (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Li King Wai Ross

Non-executive director

Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gas jp

Independent non-executive director

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond 8ss Jp (Chairman)
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr. Peter A. Davies

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond 8ss Jp
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

DNEEH (&)

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL OFFICE

5th Floor, Liven House
61-63 King Yip Street
Kwun Tong

Kowloon

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

In Hong Kong and Macau:

Hang Seng Bank

Standard Chartered Bank
Citibank, N.A.

HSBC

DBS

Bank of China (Hong Kong)

In the PRC:

China Construction Bank
Bank of China
Agricultural Bank of China

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company
(Cayman) Limited

4th Floor, Royal Bank House,

24 Shedden Road, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-1110

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 22 Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

WEBSITE

http://www.leemanpaper.com
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(Cayman) Limited
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Profit Attributable to

Revenue Owners of the Company Total Assets
WA RATEE AEERR EERE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBME

Nine months
Year ended ended Year ended
31 March 31 December 31 December
BZE3A31H EZ12A31A BZ
LEE 1E9fE A 12A31BILEE
2012 2012 2013 2014 2015
20126 20126 20134 20144 201545
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T TExT THT TET TET
RESULTS £
Revenue WA 14,715,553 11,423,998 16,970,365 17,099,134 17,615,641
Profit before tax B& 4 B &2 F1 1,536,751 1,498,116 2,192,471 2,208,930 2,750,162
Income tax expense MEFLH (185,302) (177,098) (244,268) (304,536) (418,487)
Profit for the year/period FE/HRER 1,351,449 1,321,018 1,948,203 1,904,394 2,331,675

At 31 March At 31 December
®W3A31H ®12A318
2012 2012 2013 2014 2015
20124 20124 20134 20145 20154
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TET TET THT TET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Total assets BEE 26,741,033 27,608,776 31,194,706 34,736,820 35,599,063
Total liabilities HaE (13,242,820) (13,010,586) (14,848,220) (17,259,836) (18,362,876)
Net assets EEFE 13,498,213 14,598,190 16,346,486 17,476,984 17,236,187

BGERER AR 2015 F£3R 7



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

EEHRE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group recorded a total
sales volume of 5.44 million tons, a total revenue of HK$17.62
billion, an annual net profit of HK$2.33 billion, and a net profit per
ton of HK$429.

The PM20 paper machine with an annual production volume of
320,000 tons and four tissue paper machines with an annual
production volume of 135,000 tons — all of which are located in the
Chongging Industrial Park — have commenced full production since
last year. Benefitting from factories being shutdown in Dongguan
which reduced overcapacity, falling fuel and raw material prices, and
refund policies for value-added taxes, both sales revenue and profit
recorded growth.

The Group has entered the tissue paper market in 2014 to expand its
business. Apart from establishing the brand name of its products, the
tissue paper with the corporate brand “Hanky” has commenced
production in the fourth quarter of 2015. The Group’s four tissue
paper machines with a production volume of 135,000 tons have
been operating at full capacity since 2015. In order to cope with
market demand, the Group is planning increasing its production
capacity by 220,000 tons by the fourth quarter in 2016. The Group
will be able to reduce the production cost of tissue paper by utilizing
its pulp production facilities in Chongqging, and it expects that the
profit contribution from the tissue paper business will increase. The
Group is also considering the possibility of developing the tissue
paper business in other locations.

Apart from the tissue business, the Group will expand into overseas
packaging paper markets and invest in the construction of overseas
paper factories to stay in line with the expansion of the Southeast
Asian markets. It is expected that the paper machine project in Hau
Giang, Vietnam — which can provide 400,000 tons of production
capacity — will begin operations in the second half of 2016. As the
overseas packaging paper market possesses enormous potential, the

Group may invest more resources in this sector.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

EFEHmE (&)

In order to solve the overcapacity and the environmental issues for
the paper industry, the PRC Government has steadily closed down
obsolete production capacities in previous years. Local government
authorities will impose more stringent environmental monitoring
policies, which will shut down even more obsolete production
capacities, thereby alleviating the supply over demand situation for
the paper industry and restoring the industry’s bargaining power.
Despite the slowdown in the growth of the domestic economy and
the consumption for packaging paper, the demand for packaging
paper in China is expected to grow steadily in the long run. In
addition, the rapid development of online shopping has led to
fundamental changes in consumption and logistics models,
benefitting the packaging paper industry which is currently in the
process of consolidation. Hence, the Group is optimistic about the

outlook of the paper industry.

Based on its consistent adoption of prudent strategies, and with a
reasonable debt level, the Group will continue to increase its capacity
in tissue paper and develop its new industrial park in Vietnam in
tandem with the pace of economic development. The management
of the Group will continue to make efforts to enhance production
efficiencies, strictly control costs and strengthen capital operation in
order to maintain the Group’s competitiveness in the paper industry.
The Group's business will continue under the leadership of an
experienced and capable management team, with a view to further
enhancing the Group's profitability.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Man Chun Raymond
Chairman

Hong Kong
1 March 2016
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DA

RESULTS OF OPERATION

Revenue and net profit attributable to owners of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2015 was HK$17.62 billion and
HK$2.33 billion respectively.

The Group maintained an overall growth in profit and the sales
volume of the products increased to 5.44 million tons for the year
and the average net profit per ton of the products achieved at about
HK$429 for the year.

The earnings per share for the year was HK50.43 cents when
compared with HK40.69 cents for the year ended 31 December
2014.

DISTRIBUTION AND SELLING EXPENSES

The Group's distribution and selling expenses was HK$318 million for
the year ended 31 December 2015 as compared to HK$330 million
for the year ended 31 December 2014. It represented about 1.8% of
the revenue for the year ended 31 December 2015 and was slightly
decreased as compared to about 1.9% for the year ended 31
December 2014.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s general and administrative expenses was HK$797 million
for the year ended 31 December 2015 as compared to HK$709
million for the year ended 31 December 2014. It represented about
4.5% of the revenue for the year ended 31 December 2015 and was
increased as compared to that of 4.1% for the year ended 31
December 2014. The increase was mainly due to the result of the

expansion of the Group during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENRE D (&)

FINANCE COSTS

The Group’s total finance costs (including the amounts capitalised)
was HK$303 million for the year ended 31 December 2015 as
compared to HK$336 million for the year ended 31 December 2014.
The average interest rate on bank borrowings of the Group for the
year was slightly decreased as compared to the year ended 31
December 2014.

INVENTORIES, DEBTORS" AND CREDITORS'
TURNOVER

The inventory turnover of the Group’s raw materials and finished
products were 78 days and 12 days, respectively, for the year ended
31 December 2015 as compared to 75 days and 18 days, respectively,
for the year ended 31 December 2014.

The Group’s debtors’ turnover days were 50 days for the year ended
31 December 2015 as compared to 57 days for the year ended 31
December 2014. This is in line with the credit terms of 45 days to 90
days granted by the Group to its customers.

The Group's creditors’ turnover days were 70 days for the year ended
31 December 2015 as compared to 74 days for the year ended 31
December 2014. The creditors’ turnover days were expected to
improve going forward given the Group’s higher bargaining power in
light of the industry consolidation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENRE D (&)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The total shareholders’ fund of the Group as at 31 December 2015
was HK$17,236 million (2014: HK$17,477 million). As at 31
December 2015, the Group had current assets of HK$11,042 million
(2014: HK$11,217 million) and current liabilities of HK$8,449 million
(2014: HK$10,317 million). The current ratio was 1.31 as at 31
December 2015 as compared to 1.09 at 31 December 2014.

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers in
Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC. As at 31 December 2015, the
Group had outstanding bank borrowings of HK$14,262 million
(2014: HK$12,861 million). These bank loans were secured by
corporate guarantees provided by certain subsidiaries of the
Company. As at 31 December 2015, the Group maintained bank
balances and cash of HK$2,959 million (2014: HK$2,033 million).
The Group's net debt-to-equity ratio (total borrowings net of cash
and cash equivalents over shareholders’ equity) increased from 0.62
as at 31 December 2014 to 0.66 as at 31 December 2015. If
excluded the decrease of translation reserve of HK$1.42 billion as a
result of Renminbi depreciation, the net debt-to-equity ratio should
have been 0.61.

The Group possesses sufficient cash and available banking facilities to

meet its commitments and working capital requirements.

The Group's transactions and the monetary assets are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, United States dollars
or Euro. The Group has not experienced any material difficulties or
effects on its operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuations in
currency exchange rates during the year ended 31 December 2015.
The Group has used currency structured instruments, foreign
currency borrowings or other means to hedge its foreign currency

exposure.

RBEE UBERRELERE

M2015F12H31H » AEENREE S
BER172.361B BT (20144  174.77
BHL) - 20156 12A318 » A& E
BB EEZE110.421B L (2014F -
1121788 7T) - MRE B FEA A84.49
BT (20144  103178&B L) - ©¥
201512 A31EHM MBI L E/1.31 - M
M2014%1283188141.09 -

AEE—RUAABEENRSRE - UK
EE CBRPRFEz EEZEARRITIRE
WEERRBEAXBNEEES - B
201512 A31H - AEBERKREEIRT
ERAR142.6218 8T (201445 : 128.61
BAEL) ZERTERBARAET
MEBARRENAREREAER - B
201512 A31H - AEBERHHRITEH
K3 £29.59E A L (20144 : 20.3318
BL) AEEMNFEABEBLER(EE
BERReRASEEMRUABRTER)
2014512 A31HK0.62 EFAZE20154F
12A318/0.66 - EHMiFFEARKE A
EEZESFEBRD1428BT  FEXR
BELERIA0.61 -

AEBAEFHERWRES R HEBANRTHE
AEUNENASEBENREREEESH
go
REENZHGREEEEFTZENET - A
R® ETHBTETE - 822015512
A31HIEFER AEEMEEXRBE
&R T EEXEEmBIT A ENRH#L
FE  AEBRAEBEEIE  INEE
B H A RIS - (RSN R AR A -

12 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2015 Annual Report



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BEEENBE DT (&)

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had a workforce of about 6,500
people. Salaries of employees are maintained at competitive level and
are reviewed annually, with close reference to the relevant labour
market and economic situation. The Group also provides internal
training to staff and provides bonuses based upon staff performance
and profits of the Group.

The Group has not experienced any significant problems with its
employees or disruption to its operations due to labour disputes nor
has it experienced any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of
experienced staff. The Group maintains a good relationship with its
employees.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EhRE

TRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance. The Board of the Company believes that
sound and reasonable corporate governance practices are essential
for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding and maximising
shareholders’ interests. During the year under review, the Company
has complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
"Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The objectives of the management structures within the Group,
headed by the Board and led by the Chairman, are to deliver
sustainable value to Shareholders.

The Chairman provides leadership to and oversees the effective
functioning of the Board. With support of the Chief Executive Officer
and the Company Secretary, the Chairman approves Board meeting
agenda, and ensures Director shave proper briefing, and timely
receive adequate and reliable information, on all Board matters.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief Executive
Officer, and different persons hold the separate offices. Chief
Executive Officer heads the management and focuses on the day-to-
day operations of the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management, the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2015, the accounting principles and practices adopted and discussed
auditing, internal controls and financial reporting matters.

DIRECTORS" SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions in 2004. All the members of the
Board have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company
that they have complied with the required standard as set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2015. The
Model Code also applies to other specified senior management of
the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition and Role

The Board comprises:

Executive directors:

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond 88s Jp (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Bun mH

Mr. Li King Wai Ross

Non-executive director:

Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gas sp

Independent Non-executive directors:
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr. Peter A. Davies

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

During the year, the Board comprises of three executive directors (one
of whom is the Chairman), one non-executive director and three
independent non-executive directors. In addition, three of the
independent non-executive directors possess appropriate legal,
professional accounting qualifications and financial management

expertise.

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic
development of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial
performance and the internal controls of the Group’s business

operations.

The independent non-executive directors also serve the important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective
corporate governance framework. The Board considers that each
independent non-executive director is independent in character and
judgment and that they all meet the specific independence criteria as
required by the Listing Rules. The Company has received from each
independent non-executive director an annual confirmation or
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The independent non-executive directors are explicitly

identified in all of the Company’s corporate communications.
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ERERRE (F)

The Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving
the agenda for each board meeting in consultation with all directors.
Notice of at least 14 days have been given to all directors for all
regular board meetings and the directors can include matters for
discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying
board papers in respect of regular board meetings are sent out in full
to all directors within reasonable time before the meeting. Draft
minutes of all board meetings are circulated to directors for comment

within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are
kept by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all
directors have access to board papers and related materials, and are
provided with adequate information on a timely manner, which
enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it.

During the year, full board meetings were held and the individual
attendance of each director is set out below:

FREALEES  EE2ABEHLE
Tttux% EeRLEE HEANRD
REBERTORMBEXTEES 017
2 BFARRERBEAINGEITWER -
BHRBPHERY  —ExERBEERAS
XHeEREN A EREAREXTEE
o EHNSRLENTENAEEREARX

REERHM  HTHER -

ExehEFT R eRLEHERE
BIREZWERT  MAEERVAERED
Bl E =& XXM RAERE F FoE s 1R
RWEHR FEREGUNARRBEMNEL
BRERHE -

FRN CHARZRESS  BEFHER
EEHIET

Number of meetings

attended/Total
Name of director EEpE HEER SREKH
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond 8ss EXRELmenes FHt 6/8
Mr. Lee Man Bun mH =Gt T L 8/8
Mr. Kunihiko Kashima BEALCERE 12
(resigned on 24 April 2015) (201554 F24H &)
Mr. Li King Wai Ross FRERE 6/8
Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gas Jp EBRABBE e unEs ATt 8/8
Mr. Yoshio Haga FEEBLE 072
(resigned on 24 April 2015) (7R2015F 4 A24 B &)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUREE 8/8
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Daviesst 4 718
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David BAARKLEE 8/8
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Each newly appointed director receives formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to
ensure proper understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory

requirements.

The directors acknowledge the need to continue to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills for making contributions to the
Company. The participation by individual directors in the continuous
professional development programme with appropriate emphasis on
the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed company in
2015 is recorded in the table below.

BUFZTESHIRNEREIRERES
ERX -~ 2EEFEMR/ERGFZ AR
NHERZEFHARAZEBREENHE
EEZER - WD AMBRN EHHRA R
HEEERE T ZEERER -

EERRAEHERRUYFN AT NH R
BEARAIBRARARHEL ERL - TRESIEE
ER2015FRBYEE LM AREE Y
AR BERBECHESEERTEZ
L HREE -

Attending external

seminars/
Reading regulatory programmes
updates 28
MEEERTE SPREIB RN
Name of director EEpE BHER e E8
Executive directors HITES
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond 88s Jp EXEIE TosnEs cvat
Mr. Lee Man Bun MH ERQnpe
Mr. Kunihiko Kashima BEACERAE
(resigned on 24 April 2015) (R2015F4A24BE1E)
Mr. Li King Wai Ross BN v v
Non-executive directors FHITES
Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gas Jp BERABEesnEs A THE
Mr. Yoshio Haga FEEERE
(resigned on 24 April 2015) (R2015F4 F24 A FHT)
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony TRRLE
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Davies%t &
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David FEAR L E
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 2003 and its current

members include:

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has broad
commercial experience and there is a suitable mix of expertise in
legal, business and accounting on the Audit Committee. The
composition and members of the Audit Committee complies with the
requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The written terms
of reference which describe the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee were approved and adopted on 28 March 2012 to
conform to the provisions of the Code and the Listing Rules, a copy
of which is posted on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee meets regularly to review the Group's financial
reporting and other information to shareholders, the system of
internal controls, risk management and the effectiveness and
objectively of the audit process. The Audit Committee also provides
an important link between the Board and the Company’s auditors in
matters coming within the scope of its terms of reference and keeps
under review the independence and objectivity of the auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed internal controls and financial reporting matters including a

review of the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2015.

During the year, four Audit Committee meetings were held and the
individual attendance of each member is set out below:
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Number of attendance

Name of member REHA R
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David AEK ST E 4/4
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony TRUELSE a/4
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Daviest 4 3/4
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005 and the

current members include:

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach under
paragraph B.1.2(c)(ii) of the Code and advises and makes
recommendations to the Board on the Group’s overall policy and
structure for the remuneration of directors and senior management.
The Remuneration Committee ensures that no director or any of his
associate is involved in deciding his own remuneration. The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee were approved and
adopted on 28 March 2012 to conform to the provisions of the
Code, a copy of which is posted on the Company’s website.

In determining the emolument payable to directors, the
Remuneration Committee takes into consideration factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the directors, employment conditions elsewhere in
the Group and the desirability of performance-based remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee meets regularly to determine the
policy for the remuneration of directors and assess performance of
executive directors and certain senior management. One
Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the year and all
members have attended in the meeting.

FMEES

HEZ B S R2005F /K7
17

HEKE R

FEK T E(EE)
TR A
Peter A. Daviesst 4

FHMEZE R EMTRIAIKZB.1.2(0)
(il MEFEeRAEEEERAREE
BZHM s BRBUR REBIELER - &
MEESHRBEESHHEMNBHEAR
MEFTERNGZHM - BFETRNIEX -
FHEZEemBERECR201243A28
BEMENEN  YEFHRAQTHE
A e

EEERNTEEZHEN  FHEZES
DEBEERAE  BRAXHDKT &
EEMCBRILERE  SERNHE
RSN RERBBB M

YWz EeTHFNeNETEF 2 MR
BRFEATEERETEREEEZR
B FRNAREHR X FAKEHBEL

EEER

BYGERARAT 2015 F3 19



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 28 March 2012 and

the current members include:

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond 8ss jp (Chairman)
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr. Peter A. Davies

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of directors, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession
planning of directors, and assessing the independence of the

independent non-executive directors.

The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise,
skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Company. One Nomination Committee meeting was held

during the year and all members have attended in the meeting.

Board diversity

During the year, the Company continued to monitor the board
composition with regard to its diversity policy which requires board
appointments to be made based on merit and candidates to be
considered against an objective criteria, including diversity. In order
to maintain an appropriate mix and balance of talent, skills,
experience and background on the Board, the Nomination
Committee developed measurable objectives to implement this policy
and monitored progress towards achieving these objectives during
the year ended 31 December 2015.

The current board composition was also evaluated by reference to,
among other things, the age, gender, cultural and educational
background and professional experience of each director, against the
Company'’s business model and specific needs.
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The Company believes diversity is important to enhance the Board's
effectiveness by encouraging a diversity of perspectives and to
maintain high standards of corporate governance. The Company will
continue to monitor and develop new objectives for implementing
and achieving improved diversity on the Board as and when it
considers appropriate with regard to the specific needs of the

Company and the market from time to time.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Dr. Lee Man Chun
Raymond, Mr. Li King Wai Ross and Professor Poon Chun Kwong,
shall retire by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the next forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment of
the directors standing for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the fee payable to the
Company’s external auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided to the Company and its subsidiaries is set out below:

ARBVRE » ZILEBREAE T RE
HAEER HRAEEGUELERS
KFEEXEREMER - ARAIFHEER
EARRRMAZTEHARBR R £HR
REFERERRIILHER  #EAERA
EFEemZ LK
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SIS A% BB

AEE2015F12A31HIEEE » AR
AILEHMEARTERENERNIFEER
BRARRINEZ AN EN N E B
T

HK$'000

FAET

Audit Services BEZ R 5,801
Non-audit services (included tax matters, RS (BIEREEIE -

review and other reporting services) 2208 N B Ath B SR AR 7 ) 2,154

7,955
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for the system of internal controls
of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board is
committed to implementing an effective and sound internal controls
system to safeguard the interest of shareholders and the Group’s
assets. The Board has delegated to executive management the
implementation of the system of internal controls and reviewing of
all relevant financial, operational, compliance controls and risk
management function within an established framework.

DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for the preparation of accounts for each
financial period which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. In
preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2015, the
directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made adjustments
and estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and have prepared
the accounts on the going concern basis. The directors are also
responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the

Group.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information about
the Group'’s performance to shareholders through the publication of
interim results and annual results in a timely manner. In addition to
dispatching circulars, notices and financial reports to shareholders,
additional information is also available to shareholders on the website
of the Company.

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders
to raise comments and exchange views with the Board. Shareholders
are encouraged to attend annual general meetings for which the
Company gives at least 21 days’ notice. The Chairman and Directors
and external auditors are available to answer questions on the
Company’s businesses at the meeting.
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Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
directors. In addition, procedures for demanding a poll are included
in the circular to shareholders dispatched together with the annual

report.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at shareholder

meetings, including the election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
shareholder meeting.

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company can make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary to convene an extraordinary general meeting
pursuant to article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association. The
written requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and must
be signed by the relevant shareholder(s) and deposited at the
principal office of the Company, which is presently situated at 5/F.,
Liven House, 61-63 King Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

There are no provisions under the Company’s Articles of Association
or the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands regarding procedures for Shareholders
to put forward proposals at general meetings other than a proposal
of a person for election as director. Shareholders may follow the
procedures set out above to convene an extraordinary general
meeting for any business specified in such written requisition.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general

meetings of the Company.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

TrELAEEMT

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Over the years, the Group has been fully committed to environmental
protection. The management implemented various measures and
controls to ensure that our duties to the environment have been
fulfilled. Our production plants are built in compliance with all the
international environment management standards and we have
employed the most effective form of technology to ensure the Group
to be one of the most environmentally friendly companies in the
world. To ensure all the measures are carried out properly, the
management has set up an Environmental Protection Division
personally led by the Chief Executive Officer and a team of qualified
professionals. Periodic internal control meetings are held to review
the environmental issues in the production plants, to update any
environmental laws and regulations and to make valuable
suggestions and recommendations for improvement. The
Environmental Protection Division will put more effort to ensure high
environmental standards are persistently met in the key areas of
production process, waste water treatment, water and energy

consumption and emission control.

Environmentally-Friendly Production Process

The Group's advanced production machines are designed to enable
high usage of recovered paper during the production process. One of
the Group’s long term objectives is to increase the usage of waste
paper and to decrease the usage of virgin pulp. Currently, our paper
is produced at 98% recycling rate (i.e. 98% of paper fibers are
recyclable materials) and we have one of the highest recycling rates
among all containerboard manufacturers globally. To ensure a stable
supply of recovered paper, we have several sourcing teams globally
and we have also sponsored a number of partners in China to collect
waste paper, which not only create jobs locally but also make the

surrounding area more environmentally friendly.
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Water Consumption and Wastewater Treatment
Plant

Water consumption is highly dependent on the effectiveness of the
wastewater treatment processes and the amount of global change
water reclaimed in the production process. To minimise water
pollution in the production process, the Group currently employs the
world’s most effective wastewater treatment technology for paper
industries, namely a two stage anaerobic/aerobic bio-treatment and a
flotation process, which results in wastewater discharged at its
highest standards set by the national environment bureau. More
importantly, by recycling wastewater in our production process, we

reduce significantly the water consumption.

Energy Consumption

Another long term objective of the Group in environmental
protection is to reduce the energy consumption. The Group has
arranged to replace high energy consumption motors batch by batch
to frequency controlled type. Investment will usually be paid back in
about 3 years, and after that even more remarkable savings in energy
and cost will be achieved. In addition, we make use of the methane
generated in the anaerobic treatment of wastewater and some solid
waste to help combustion in the coal-fired power plants and save
fuel consumption. Better management is another important element
in generating power more efficiently and consume less energy in the
paper making process. Currently, we operate at 0.37 ton of standard
coal per ton of paper produced and our target is to reduce to less
than 0.36 ton of standard coal per ton of paper produced. This level is
substantially less than the national average of approximately 0.60 ton

of standard coal per ton of paper produced.
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Emission Control

We focus on continuous reducing energy consumption that leads to
less coal consumption and less emission. All our coal-fired power
plants are installed with dust filtration and desulphurization
equipment and the discharge emission is always monitored on-line,
ensuring that the quality of emission meets the national regulatory
requirements. Moreover, we have set up the more effective Wet
Scrubbing desulphurization system in our plants which can further
reduce sulphur dioxide emission to a level well below the national
standard of 400mg/m?.

HUMAN RESOURCES STRATEGY

At Lee & Man Paper, we believe that our staff are the most important
resources and their well-being, growth and performance are tied
tightly to the group’s success. To create a pleasant working and living
environment, the Group has carried out various actions to review and
improve policies and facilities continuously. Moreover, the Group also
pays high concern on its staff's career development. Through a
carefully designed internal training system and continuous effort in
identifying potential talents, the Group aims to help its staff develop
multi-skills capability, enrich knowledge, and craft a career path that
can unleash their potentials and elevate their values to satisfy their
growth needs and to better align with the Group’s strategy and
growth.
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Caring Our Staff

With staff well-being as one of our core values in managing human
resources, Lee & Man Paper is committed to providing employees
with pleasant work environment and rich personal lives. We believe
that only through building a satisfied and committed workforce we
can, as a team, achieve sustainable development and success. Our

management is open to listen to our staff’s voice and suggestions.

The Group always reviews and improves catering, residence and
recreational facilities and services to provide a pleasant living
environment to the staff. The Group also devotes lots of effort in
organising cultural events and recreational activities to enrich the
lives of its staff and their families. Being in the Lee & Man Paper big
family, we have set up a financial aid scheme helping staff and their
families directly during the rough time such as sicknesses and

accidents.

Career Development

As Lee & Man Paper understands that the growth of its staff equals
the growth of the Group, we pay great attention in helping staff to
acquire new skills and knowledge to better fit with the Group’s
strategy. To meet with the global trend for multi-skills talent and to
encourage lifelong learning, every year the Group has organised a
series of internal training programs as well as subsidising staff to
study further. With the Lee & Man Paper’s performance management
system, together with the Group’s continuous effort in identifying
talents, capable staff are selected to enter our management trainee
programme global changes that aims to set new heights to their
career path. The Group has also sent students to Guangzhou’s South
China University of Technology for a two-year diploma course on
paper making technology that are fully funded by the Group and
students are placed into various positions after graduation.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

EEEEE(A)

AWARDS AND CERTIFICATIONS

Lee & Man Paper has always been committed to being a model
enterprise with a keen sense of social responsibility, consecutively
received government environmental protection awards and accolades,
gaining the recognition and endorsement from the community. To
demonstrate our past efforts in protecting the environment, all of our
existing operating plants have been awarded the 1SO14001
certification for environmental management. Our plants in Hongmei
and Huangyong were awarded the GB/T23331-2012 certification for
energy management system in February 2013. In addition, our plants
have also been granted the ISO9001 certification for quality
management and Chain of Custody Certificate by Forest Stewardship
Council (FSC-COC), it proved that we have been committed to the
exploration of mutual development between paper making and
protecting the forests. In November 2009, we were awarded the
Hong Kong-Guangdong Cleaner Production Partner (Manufacturing).
Since 2009, the Group is certified as the “Top 10 Enterprises of Paper
Industry in China Light Industries” by China Paper Association for 6
years. The Group was rated “Environmentally Friendly Enterprise” in
2011 and “National Light Industry Information and Industrialization
In-depth Integration Demonstration Enterprise” in 2012. Nowaday,
our Hongmei, Huangyong and Jiangsu plants have been accredited as
Cleaner Production Enterprise and Harmonious Labour Relations
Enterprise in paper industry by the respective province. Hongmei,
Huangyong and Jiangsu plants have been recognised as High and
New Technology Enterprises, and Hongmei plant has been recognised
by Guangdong Province as Provincial-level Enterprise Technology
Centre, it fully embodies our investment in research and development
and technology. Hongmei plant has been awarded the honour of
“Guangdong Province Employer Responsibility Demonstration
Enterprise” and “Advanced Energy Conservation Unit” etc. Our
Chongging plant has been accredited as Ecological Improvement and
Environmental Protection, “Top 10 Strong Business Enterprises” and
“Top 10 Enterprise of Excellent Economic & Export Performance” by
Chongging City.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

EEEEE(A)

To provide a safety working place is very crucial to us. Our Hongmei,
Jiangsu, Huangyong and Jiangxi plants were granted with OHSAS
18001 certification for Occupational Health & Safety, demonstrating
our commitment in caring about employee safety and quality of
working environment. The certifications ensure that we have taken
various measures to improve efficiency of internal operations and
consequently reduce accidents, danger and downtime as well as

ensuring our compliance with current legal requirements.

Furthermore, our plants in Hongmei, Jiangsu, Huangyong and Jiangxi
have also been awarded IECQ QC080000 certification for Hazardous
Substance Process Management. This certification provides
confidence to our customers that our products are compliant, and
that do not contain prohibited substances.

Over the years Lee & Man Paper have made numerous donations and
we have received many awards from governmental authorities to
confirm our past contribution towards the industry and the society as
a whole.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSREEEBN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, aged 45, CPPCC National
Committee, BBS JP, Chairman of the Company and founder of the
Group, is in charge of corporate planning and investment projects.
Dr. Lee has over 22 years of operational experience in paper
manufacturing and is experienced in professional formula of paper
making and product development. Dr. Lee was conferred the
Honorary Degree of Doctor of Laws in 2014 and holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Applied Science from the University of British Columbia in
Canada. He is currently involved in a number of public engagements
and has been awarded honorary citizenship of Dongguan and
reputational citizenship of Changshu. Dr. Lee was awarded the
“Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 2002” and received an
award for “2003 Hong Kong Ten Outstanding Young Persons
Selection Awardees”. In 2011, Dr. Lee was appointed as Vice
President of China Paper Association. He is currently appointed as
Chairman of Centum Charitas Foundation. He is an Independent
Non-executive Director of the listed company, Bossini International
Holdings Limited. Dr. Lee is the brother of Mr. Lee Man Bun, an
Executive Director of the Company and Chief Executive Officer of the
Group and is the brother-in-law of Mr. Li King Wai Ross, an Executive
Director of the Company.

Mr. Lee Man Bun, aged 35, the member of the Political Consultative
Committee of Guangdong Province, MH, the Member of Commission
on Poverty (Youth Education, Employment and Training Task Force),
the Committee Member of Social Welfare Advisory Committee and
also the Advisory Committee of The Enhancing Self-Reliance Through
District Partnership Programme, Chief Executive Officer of the Group,
is responsible for production management, sales, daily operation,
research & development, repair and maintenance of production
machines and factory staff management etc. Mr. Lee holds a
Bachelor’s Degree of Applied Science in Chemical Engineering from
the University of British Columbia in Canada. Mr. Lee is awarded the
“Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 2015" and is the Founding
Chairman of Hong Kong New Youth Energy Think Tank. He is the
younger brother of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, the Chairman and
an Executive Director of the Company and is the brother-in-law of

Mr. Li King Wai Ross, an Executive Director of the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EIREREEEEN (F)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (conminuep)

Mr. Li King Wai Ross, aged 40, an Executive Director of the
Company, is responsible for the global procurement of recovered
paper, logistics planning and optimization, as well as external affairs
for the Group. He holds a Master's Degree in Science in Electrical
Engineering from Stanford University in USA and a Bachelor’s Degree
in Applied Science in Computer Engineering from University of British
Columbia in Canada. He has over 14 years of experience in
production management, operations and technological research and
development. He is the brother-in-law of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond
and Mr. Lee Man Bun, both of whom are Executive Directors of the
Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, aged 76, GBS JP, a Non-executive
Director of the Company, is the Chairman of Virya Foundation
Limited (a registered non-profit charitable organisation), the Emeritus
Professor and the President Emeritus of the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He devoted 40 years of his life to advancing university
education in Hong Kong before he retired in January 2009 from his
18-year presidency at the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
Professor Poon obtained a Bachelor of Science (Honours) Degree
from the University of Hong Kong, A Doctor of Philosophy Degree
and a Higher Doctor of Science Degree from the University of
London. He was a Postdoctoral Fellow at the California Institute of
Technology and University of Southern California. He also held the
Honorary Degree of Doctor of Humanities from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 2009. He was appointed a Non-official
Justice of the Peace (JP) in 1989, received the OBE in 1991, the Gold
Bauhinia Star (GBS) in 2002, “Leader of the Year Awards 2008
(Education)”. In addition, Professor Poon was appointed as a member
of the Legislative Council (1985-1991) and a member of the National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
(1998-2013). He is also an Independent Non-executive Director of
Henderson Land Development Company Limited, The Hong Kong
and China Gas Limited, Hopewell Highway Infrastructure Limited and
Chevalier International Holdings Limited. He resigned as an
Independent Non-executive Director of K. Wah International Holdings
Limited in July 2015. All the aforesaid companies are listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESIRSREEEEN (F)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony, aged 73, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, has been a practicing lawyer in Hong Kong
since 1968 and has also been admitted as a solicitor in England and
Wales. He is currently a consultant at Messrs. Hastings & Co.,
Solicitors and Notaries. He is also an Independent Non-executive
Director of the listed company, Lee & Man Chemical Company
Limited.

Mr. Peter A. Davies, aged 73, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, is a retired lawyer. He has over 45 years of
experience in the legal field, practising both as a solicitor and a
barrister in England and Hong Kong. Over the years, he has been a
partner of Messrs. Deacons, Solicitors, and a Directorate Officer and
the head of the Insider Dealing Unit with the Department of Justice
of Hong Kong. He was appointed to be a notary public in Hong Kong
in 1974.

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David, aged 52, an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company. He has over 23 years experience
in corporate finance, working on projects ranging from initial public
offering transactions and restructuring of PRC enterprises to cross-
border and domestic takeover transactions. Mr. Chau was formerly a
partner of one of the big four accounting firms in Hong Kong,
holding the position as their Head of Merger and Acquisition and
Corporate Advisory. He is a member of the Hong Kong Securities
Institute, the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and
Wales (“ICAEW"), and was granted the Corporate Finance
Qualification of ICAEW, and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA™), and was an ex-committee member
of the Disciplinary Panel of HKICPA. Mr. Chau is currently an
Independent Non-executive Director of Man Wah Holdings Limited,
Varitronix International Limited, Evergrande Real Estate Group
Limited, Richly Field China Development Limited, Hengten Networks
Group Limited (formerly known as Mascotte Holdings Limited) and
Evergrande Health Industry Group Limited. He resigned as an
Independent Non-executive Director of Up Energy Development
Group Limited in September 2015. All the aforesaid companies are
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EIREREEEEN (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, aged 49, is the Chief Financial Officer of
the Group and the Company Secretary of the Company, is
responsible for the internal supervision, management of the Group's
financial matters and investor relationship. Mr. Cheung is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and has over 27 years of experience in the field of
auditing, accounting and financial management. He is an
Independent Non-executive Director of the listed company, China
Aoyuan Property Group Limited. He joined the Group in August
2002.

Mr. Yan Jean Goo, aged 50, is the Deputy General Manager of
Chongging Lee & Man Tissue, is responsible for the overall operation
& management of tissue business of the Group. He holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Economics from the University of Xiamen and has over 28
years of experience in production and operation management. He
joined the Group in November 2006.

Mr. Yip Heong Kan, aged 45, is the Deputy General Manager of
the Group, is responsible for cost controlling, corporate management
and energy saving projects. He holds a Master’'s Degree in Business
Administration from Open University of Hong Kong, is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has over 22 years of experience in auditing &
accounting and corporate financial management. He joined the
Group in June 2008.

Mr. Lee Ho Chung Jude, aged 41, is the Head of Information
Technology of the Group responsible for the Information Technology
Strategic Planning and Execution. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in
Applied Science & Engineering from University of Toronto in Canada
and has over 16 years of experience in IT supervision and 8 years of
senior management experience from different multinational

companies. He joined the Group in October 2011.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESIRSREEEEN (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conmivuep)

Mr. Ng Hok She Harry, aged 40, is the Head of Quality Assurance,
responsible for the packaging paper and tissue paper production
quality of the Group. Mr. Ng holds a Bachelor’s Degree and a
Master’s Degree in Mechanical Engineering from McMaster University
in Canada. He has over 14 years of experience in engineering safety

aspects management. He joined the Group in October 2011.

Mr. Chan Chi Ho, aged 47, is the Senior Production Manager of the
Group, responsible for industrial paper production management of
the Group. Mr. Chan has over 28 years of experience in overseeing
production matters in the paper manufacturing business. Mr. Chan
was former production manager of Jiangsu plant and rejoined the
Group in February 2009.

Ms. Li Yuen Ling, aged 54, is the Senior Finance Manager of the
Group, is responsible for the Group’s finance activities, as well as
maintaining banking relationship for the Group. She joined the Lee &
Man group in 1984 and has over 31 years of experience in
accounting and finance for manufacturing operations.

Mr. Tse Pak Kong, aged 52, is the Senior Manager of the Group, is
responsible for the global procurement of recovered paper
businesses. He holds a Bachelor's Degree of Science in Electrical
Engineering from the University of Hong Kong and has over 29 years
of experience in the management of both multinational and local

companies in China. He joined the Group in December 2005.

Mr. Chan Kong Sang, aged 56, is the Manager of power stations of
the Group, is responsible for the set up and operation of various
power plants. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Science in Engineering
from the University of Hong Kong and has over 33 years of
experience in operation and managing production and engineering
aspects of manufacturing businesses. He joined the Group in January
2001.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESRaREEERN (FE)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conTinueD)

Mr. Chung Wai Fu, aged 51, is the Administration Manager of
Vietnam Lee & Man Paper, responsible for Hau Giang plant operation
and management. Mr. Chung holds a Bachelor Degree of Production
and Logistics Management and a Master Degree of Business
Administration in Human Resources Management from the University
of Southern Queensland. He has over 22 years of management
experience working in both multinational and local listed companies
in China. Mr. Chung joined the Group since November 2008.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
S

g

The directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries and joint ventures are set out in

notes 35 and 17 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income on page 51.

An interim dividend of HK8.5 cents per share amounting to
HK$390,329,000 in aggregate was paid to the shareholders during
the year. The directors of the Company now recommend the
payment of a final dividend of HK9.5 cents per share for the year
ended 31 December 2015 to the shareholders on the register of
members on 17 May 2016, amounting to approximately HK$433
million in aggregate, subject to the approval of the shareholders at

the forthcoming annual general meeting.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2015, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders represented the aggregation of the share
premium, the contributed surplus and the retained profits of
HK$4,429,415,000 (2014: HK$5,056,879,000).

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years/period is set out on page 7 of the

annual report.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
at a cost of approximately HK$2,850 million for the purpose of
expanding its business. Details of the movements in the property,
plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note
14 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A review of the business of the Company and a discussion and
analysis of the Group's performance during the year and the material
factors underlying its results and financial position are provided in the
Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis
respectively from pages 8 to 9 and pages 10 to 13 of this Annual
Report. The outlook of the Company’s business is discussed
throughout this Annual Report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following are the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Company as required to be disclosed pursuant to the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) and are in
addition to the matters referred to in the Chairman’s Statement and

Management Discussion and Analysis.

1.  Economic climate and individual market
performance

The impact of economic conditions of China would affect sales
and results of the Group. The Group continues to implement
its strategies to develop and strengthen penetration of the
relevant markets. The management of the Group will continue
to make efforts to strictly control costs and manage the usage
of capital fund in order to maintain the Group's

competitiveness in the paper industry.

M BERRE

FRN - AEBEBEBEYME  BERREIK
KH28 5018BTL - NIBEBEETS - WE -
BB R EERFANOEBFEHNGEE
SRR MTFE14 o

DR KRR

RAFER @ RAGIEBEBERNEERX
2 515 Ko A DA R B 2E 4R K B 75 A O AR
BM2ERRAZDRHEINRANFREISER
FIOEZFERBERFIOEEZEFEI3ELE
BENBEAINT - ARARMEBRER
REBRTREI A ©

TERRRAEPEER

BREFERELRERENMEDMIRMLER
LASN » AR BRIE R FHED (FHBAGIE
62E)ETHRBEMESNEZRAR KT
HBAEZNT o

1. KBERERRERNHRR

TREEBANFEEYELARHE
MEENES AKEEBEEHER
A% DAEE R M A0SR N [ /0 T 35
BE FAEBERBHREBR IR
ERRR R nog B A E R AR AR
BEERENBFD

BGERER AR 2015 F£3R 37



DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (conmivueD)

2.

38

Loss of key individuals or the inability to attract
and retain talent

Lack of appropriately skilled and experienced resource could
result in a delay in achieving the Group's strategic goals. The
risk of the loss of key personnel is mitigated by regular reviews
of recruitment and retention practices, remuneration packages
and succession planning within the management team.

Customers’ credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk by the Group which will
cause a financial loss due to failure to discharge an obligation
by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amounts of
the recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
The Group only extends credit to customers based on careful
evaluation of the customers’ financial conditions and credit
history. Credit sales of products are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of debt at the end of the reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts.

Details of the customers’ credit risk are set out in note 29(ii) to
the consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensures compliance with the relevant loan covenants.

Details of the liquidity risk are set out in note 29(ii) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (conTinuED)
5. Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency transactions and foreign
currency borrowings, which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. The Group manages and monitors foreign
exchange exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner. The Group has
entered into certain foreign currency forward contracts to

mitigate the risks as deemed appropriate.

Details of the currency risk are set out in note 29(ii)(a) to the

consolidated financial statements.

6. Interest rate risk

The Group is mainly exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to floating-rate bank balances and bank borrowings
and fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate bank
borrowings. The management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.

Details of the interest rate risk are set out in note 29(ii)(b) to

the consolidated financial statements.

GROUP’S ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Other than financial performance, the Group believes that a high
standard of corporate social responsibility is essential for building up
a good corporate and social relationship and motivating staff and
creating a sustainable return to the Group. We are committed to
contributing to the sustainability of the environment and community
in which we conduct business and where our stakeholders live.

Particulars of the Company’s environmental policies and performance
are set out in the Corporate Social Responsibility on pages 24 to 29
of this Annual Report.
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STAKEHOLDERS" ENGAGEMENT

We obtain and understand the views of our stakeholders regularly.
This communication provides valuable feedback for our business and
assists us to understand stakeholders’ needs and assess the best way
to leverage our resources and expertise to contribute to future
business and community development.

Across the supply chain, we have taken steps through the year to
ensure that we operate responsibly and in the interests of our
customers, workforce, suppliers and other stakeholders.

An account of the Company’s relationships with employees is
included in the Management Discussion and Analysis from pages 10
to 13.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial

statements.

During the year, the Company repurchased certain of its own
ordinary shares through The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange"), details of which are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements. The directors considered that the
repurchases would increase the earnings per share of the Company.
None of the Company’s subsidiaries repurchased, sold or redeemed

any of the Company’s shares during the year.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE EEREEMNRBSL
CONTRACTS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of FRRBEARE B - ARFNE
this report were: =3I
Executive directors HITES
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, 8ss jp (Chairman) T kRiETmzngs cvm+(EE)
Mr. Lee Man Bun, mH (Chief Executive Officer) =R Esens(HEHTE)
Mr. Li King Wai Ross PR EE
Mr. Kunihiko Kashima (resigned on 24 April 2015) BEALCELE(R2015F4 8248 #&T)
Non-executive directors FHITES
Professor Poon Chung Kwong, G8s FBERAB B exngs A THL
Mr. Yoshio Haga (Vice Chairman) FEEERAE(FTE)
(resigned on 24 April 2015) (F2015F4 A24AEHT)
Independent non-executive directors BYFHTES
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUR &4
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Davies/t &£
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David BER S E
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS (conTINUED)

Mr. Kunihiko Kashima and Mr. Yoshio Haga resigned due to disposal
of shares held by Nippon Paper Industries Co., Ltd., a former
substantial shareholder of the Company. They have confirmed that
they have no disagreement with the board of directors of the
Company and there is no matter relating to their resignation that
needs to be brought to the attention of the shareholders of the

Company.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Dr. Lee
Man Chun Raymond, Mr. Li King Wai Ross and Professor Poon
Chung Kwong retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

Each of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, Mr. Lee Man Bun and Mr. Li
King Wai Ross has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial period of three years commencing 1 April
2014, which will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by
either party by three months’ prior written notice.

The term of office of the non-executive director and each of the
independent non-executive directors is the period up to his
retirement as required by the Company’s Articles of Association.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
directors and senior management arising from corporate activities.
The permitted indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the
directors as required by the provisions of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
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EERTBTBAERRANE
BRETHEENEZER AR

DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES" INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN EQUITY OR DEBT
SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2015, the interests of the directors and the chief ~ 72015512 A31H » EEREETHA
executives and their associates in the shares, underlying shares and 8B M{%F 2B 8 A &R R R M E MR

debentures of the Company and its associated corporations, as B &k - HEKG REF+ - #EAE
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to 2R RREFEHF ME GG ([EFHLHE
section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), or as &% 1) 3521677 & 2 & 5ol Prac % < 1
otherwise notified to the Company and pursuant to the Model Code % ' SKEHE AR A MRE EHETAE
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, the Stock ~ FHETTEF R HHIEAESF RIS MG P

Exchange were as follows: RN
Long positions L)

Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company RRRER0.0258 L 2 EimAk
Percentage of
the issued
share capital of

Number of the Company
Name of director Capacity ordinary shares {HZARRA T BT
Exps 519 EBEREE BRAB D
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond Held by controlled corporation (note i) 395,000,000 8.63%
FEXEEL AR RA ()
Mr. Lee Man Bun Beneficial owner 2,983,332 0.07%
FXE L EmEAA
Held by controlled corporation (note ii) 189,166,668 4.13%
MR EwDERRRE (Meti)
Mr. Li King Wai Ross Held by spouse 2,867,477 0.06%
FaR L HEERA
Professor Poon Chung Kwong Beneficial owner 286,000 0.01%
ERIBR EnEAA
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony Beneficial owner 500,000 0.01%

FRUREE

EmfEBA
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN EQUITY OR DEBT
SECURITIES (conTinuED)

notes:

(i) These shares were held by Golden Point Developments Limited (“Golden Point”).
Golden Point is a controlled corporation of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond under
the SFO. The entire issued share capital of Golden Point is owned by Dr. Lee Man
Chun Raymond, who is also a director of Golden Point.

(i) These shares were held by Sure Expert Investments Limited (“Sure Expert”). Sure
Expert is a controlled corporation of Mr. Lee Man Bun under the SFO. The entire
issued share capital of Sure Expert is owned by Mr. Lee Man Bun, who is also a
director of Sure Expert.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors or chief executives or
their associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its

associated corporations as at 31 December 2015.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debts securities
(including debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate.

EERTBTBAERRANE
BREDEENEER KR (#)

MsE

(i % % B 19 B Golden Point Developments
Limited([ Golden Point])#7E - RIEFE % &
B &) - Golden PointAZEXEE L 2 FiE4|
7%E © Golden Point®) 2 H B /TR AN ZFE X
EE+#EE - HIAGolden PointZ EE -

(i) % % I 19 H Sure Expert Investments Limited
(ISure Expert NFA « REBEFESH LAAEE -
Sure Expert &2 SUR L& 2 ZIEHEE © Sure
Expertt 2 HEFITRABFTOR L ERHH -
W IR ASure Expert 2 EE o

Br LT EE &SN - R20154F 12 A 31
H 8FF FETHABRFESHHE
A T BE R 7R R S E A ] AR EE E B A AR
1 AR SESP - AT AERK
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E)ZIE%W%’Eﬂﬁéiﬁfﬂﬂﬂvf‘aﬂﬁ%ﬁ%éﬁi
IR BREEFAEBALR
SEMEMEABRBZBNHESF (L ?E
B )M -

44 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2015 Annual Report



DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, at 31 December
2015, other than directors and chief executives, the following
shareholders had notified the Company of the relevant interests in
the issued share capital of the Company.

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company

FERR

BIEARBIREHF BRI E336152
GEZTERRECMETLE - K2015
F12A318 F TIRFR(ZEEREETH
ABBRINEMEARARABERARAE
BITRAPHER 2 BB -

5=}
ANRRE0.0258 7T 2 E @A
Percentage of
Number of the issued

issued ordinary  share capital of
shares held the Company

Name of shareholder Capacity BEORT (ERLQFAERT

MR R 54 EBEREE BRAE D

Gold Best Holdings Ltd. Beneficial owner 2,536,710,000 55.40%
EREBA

Mr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick Held by controlled corporation (note i) 2,536,710,000 55.40%

FERLSE AR RB ()

Ms. Lee Wong Wai Kuen Held by spouse (note ii) 2,536,710,000 55.40%

FEBRBELLT A A (M)

Golden Point Beneficial owner 395,000,000 8.63%
BHEAA

Sure Expert Beneficial owner 189,166,668 4.13%
BEHEAA

notes:
(i) Gold Best Holdings Ltd. (“Gold Best”) is wholly owned by Mr. Lee Wan Keung
Patrick.

(ii) Under the SFO, Ms. Lee Wong Wai Kuen is deemed to be interested on the
2,536,710,000 ordinary shares as she is the spouse of Mr. Lee Wan Keung
Patrick, a beneficial owner of Gold Best.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as at 31 December 2015.

Fi &
(i) Gold Best Holdings Ltd. ([ Gold Best |) g1 i@
BEERERE -

iy WBEBHFRBERD  BRTERBLLRE
E# 4 (GoldBest B2 A A ) B »
AR BB %2,536,710,0000% & i@ M HOFERS o

B EEN AR BEELeR
2015412 A31H AR &l i 7 st 48 @8 I 1o
ZAEMEAMAEEEIAE -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Particulars of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 14 to 23 of this
Annual Report.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing Securities
on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”). The Company considers all

of the independent non-executive directors are independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the board of directors
engaged the auditor of the Company to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Listing Rules. The independent non-executive
directors have reviewed the continuing connected transactions and
the unqualified letter from the auditor and have confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions have been entered into by the
Group in the ordinary and usual course of its business, on normal
commercial terms, or on terms no less favourable than terms
available to or from independent third parties, in accordance with the
terms of the agreement governing such transactions that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company
as a whole; and within the relevant cap amounts as agreed by the
Stock Exchange.

ZEBUFITES

RIBE R PTE 77 EMARRI(T EMARR])E
3131k 2l BUBIIFRTERCH
AAREREFEZEILE  NRAFRR
PIBBIFNTESHBBELAL -

BEXRS

BB ETRAEI14A38K EFSLE
ARBZEE  ZREBEBGHHASHE
A BB EFEHERIF30005% T 2[ 3F
ERRNENBEMBERZEFTTIEIR
EU2REBHRASZ7405REREE
T AR B A 4 4B B E XX 5 B A BRAD B
HIRAEENKEFEIZFELES -
BIELETRA - ZBEEHAEENFE
BEXHAIENBREGERNER  BHH
BEHERBERENRMN - BUFATES
EEMHBERER S LZBENERE R

MM WEERAREFMETRERE
RHDEBER—REBHFREFAER
FOETT > BB TBERAKBBILE=T]
BT ZIGEFETT BEREEZERHZ
AR - DB AFEERSEARFIR
RERNE - K8 HE R X2 P17 E 8948
WLERER -

46 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2015 Annual Report



DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (conminueD)

Details of the discloseable connected transactions for the year are set
out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which are
required to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance

with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed under the heading “Connected
Transactions”, no contracts of significance to which the Company, its
holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and
in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time

during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers were less than 30% of the Group’s total
purchases and the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five

largest customers were less than 30% of the Group’s total sales.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder which, to
the knowledge of the directors, owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital had any interest in the share capital
of any of the Group's five largest suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, the Company
has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended
31 December 2015.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Article of Associations, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate. Other employee benefits
including insurance, medical cover and share options are also

provided.

The determination of emoluments of the Company’s directors has

taken into consideration their expertise and job specifications.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations of
HK$800,000.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-
appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Man Chun Raymond
CHAIRMAN
Hong Kong

1 March 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

18 M % A ¥

Deloitte.
=2

TO THE MEMBERS OF
LEE & MAN PAPER MANUFACTURING LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 51 to 150,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2015, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

1 March 2016
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

melEmREMEEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2015 & Z2015F 12431 H IFFE

2015
20155
NOTES HK$'000
i THET
Revenue A 5 17,615,641
Cost of sales & A A (14,037,356)
Gross profit Sl 3,578,285
Other income HAWA 6 427,821
Net gain (loss) from fair value changes  #T4€ B T AN # B E)F
of derivative financial instruments Wz (&) 13,244
Share of loss of a joint venture JEIEEE N EEE (152)
Distribution and selling expenses PDHEEIEEER (317,659)
General and administrative expenses HERITHEHR (796,517)
Finance costs B 75 B AR 7 (154,860)
Profit before tax R #5222 F 2,750,162
Income tax expense RS H 8 (418,487)
Profit for the year FERF 9 2,331,675
Other comprehensive expense Ht2mEXH
Item that may be reclassified A ENHHEE
subsequently to profit or loss: i=Enyd =l
Exchange differences arising on BESIINEBELELZ
translation of foreign operations N =58 (1,422,056)
Total comprehensive income FEAEKE
for the year 909,619
Profit for the year attributable to: FEIEFE AN
Owners of the company RABREBA 2,331,675
Total comprehensive income JE(E B2 EES
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZIN/NECTE RSN 909,619
HK cents
p= Il
Earnings per share BRAF 13 50.43

BXERAR AR 2015 F3R]

2014
20144
HK$'000
FET
17,099,134
(14,027,532)

3,071,602
426,397

(35,463)
51
(330,030)
(708,885)
(214,640)

2,208,930
(304,536)

1,904,394

(3,201)
1,901,193
1,904,394

1,901,193

HK cents
il

40.69
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ma BRI &

At 31 December 2015 #2015F 12 H31H

NOTES
BaE

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W -~ BB M& 14
Prepaid lease payments FENHEERIE 15
Deposits paid for acquisition BEDE HBEX

of property, plant and A I L A

equipment and land use rights FiftET & 16
Interest in a joint venture G ERER 17
Loan to a joint venture AELEER 17
Tax recoverable EIE ek 8
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories 5 18
Prepaid lease payments ERHEERIE 15
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 R EMIRR 19
Amounts due from related companies fE U B i N B SR 20
Tax recoverable AT B 5 1E 8
Derivative financial instruments MEEHBIE 24
Margin deposits RESEK 21
Bank balances and cash RITHEHRREIES 21
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables FET B 5 e B Ath BR 5K 22
Amounts due to related companies FE BN B 5RIA 20
Amounts due to substantial shareholders fiE < 3= Z IR 5 3718 20
Derivative financial instruments MTEemIE 24
Tax payable FERT L IE
Bank borrowings RITEE 23
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERRBEE

LIABILITIES
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2015
20154
HK$ 000
FExT

23,351,149
721,498

388,860

95,953

24,557,460

3,092,018
17,486
4,869,211
19,879
72,430
1,532
10,391
2,958,656

11,041,603

3,042,968
3,852

14,824
136,881
5,250,362

8,448,887

2,592,716

27,150,176

2014
20144
HK$'000
FAT

22,464,660
763,789

134,958
1,799
91,690
62,988

23,519,884

3,257,891
17,602
5,891,427
17,404

45

2,032,567

11,216,936

3,262,465
3,736
240,568
22,775
89,689
6,698,110

10,317,343

899,593

24,419,477



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

REPBRR R (&)

At 31 December 2015 #2015F 12 H31H

2015 2014
20154 20144
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
MI5E FET FHET

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Bank borrowings RITEE 23 9,012,017 6,162,679
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIEAE 25 901,972 779,814
9,913,989 6,942,493
17,236,187 17,476,984

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR#E
Share capital B& 7 27 114,475 116,750
Reserves (G VA PAWAD) 17,360,234

17,236,187 17,476,984

The consolidated financial statements on pages 51 to 150 were  Z£51Z £ 150 B FfEN S AMERED
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 1 2016438 1B EEe it & K IZET

March 2016 and are signed on its behalf by: BOUWHTEERREE
LEE MAN CHUN RAYMOND ZE3 {8 LEE MAN BUN Z= 3053
CHAIRMAN =& DIRECTOR %
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GERRBEE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 & Z2015F 12431 H IFFE

Share Share  Translation Capital Legal Special Other  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve contribution reserve reserve reserve profits equity
B ROEE ERGE ESEM EE0EE  BURE  EBBE  EFEA EREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FiEn ThR TR T ThR TR TR TR

(note i) (note ii) (note iii) (note iv)
ik (MiEi) (BizEi) (RizEw)

At 1 January 2014 R2014F1R1H 17402 4475412 2,637,510 12,552 97 (2,999) (12,0600 9,118,572 16,346,486
Other comprehensive expense £ REB2AXH

for the year — — (3,201) — — - — — (3,201)
Profit or the year EERA - - - - - - — 190439 190439
Total comprehensive (expense) ~ FREEE ()

income for the year e — — (3,201 — — — — 1904394 1,901,193
Shares repurchased and cancelled B RS IR 1 (652)  (110,49) - - - — - - (111,148)
Dividends recognised as BREARZHE

distributions (note 12) (B3E12) — — — — — — —  (659547)  (659,547)
At 31 December 2014 R2014F12A31H 116,750 4364916 2,634,309 12,552 97 (2,999) (12,0600 10,363,419 17,476,984
Other comprehensive expense £ REB2EXH

for the year — —  (1,422,05) — — - — — (1,422,05)
Profit for the year FERA — — — — — - — 2331675 2331675
Total comprehensive (expense) ~ ERZ2E (X H)

income for the year e — — (1,422,056 — — — — 2331675 909,619
Shares repurchased and cancelled B R EH IR 15 (2275 (409,062) - - - — - — (@133
Dividends recognised as BRAEDEZRE

distributions (note 12) (fzE12) — (390,329 — — — — —  (348,750)  (739,079)
At 31 December 2015 R2015%12A318 114,475 3565525 1,212,253 12,552 97 (2,999) (12,000) 12,346,344 17,236,187
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

ma

L BHE (B

For the year ended 31 December 2015 & Z2015%F 12431 H IFFE

notes:

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The capital contribution arose from the disposal of subsidiaries in a prior period
to a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group'’s ultimate holding company.

In accordance with the provisions of the Macao Commercial Code, the
Company'’s subsidiaries in Macau are required to transfer a minimum of 25% of
the annual net profit to a legal reserve, whenever dividend is declared by the
subsidiaries, until the reserve reaches half of the capital of the subsidiaries. The
reserve is not distributable to the shareholders.

The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the
aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries acquired by the Group pursuant to the
corporate reorganisation in September 2003, and the nominal value of the
Company'’s shares issued for the acquisition.

In October 2008, the Group acquired the remaining 10% equity interests in each
of two subsidiaries from their non-controlling shareholders at an aggregate
consideration of US$35. The excess of the carrying amount of the net liabilities
acquired over the fair value of the consideration paid has been debited directly to
equity.

fEE -
(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

ELBERNBREPRAMARBREERAR—
REEWMBARLENBRRME -

RBORPIRERMIES - A2 R RORPI A
BRBARDERMEREDIRE  BEBETD
NEEMAM25%NEHE/ETAEE  HE
RELEMBARARAN—F AL ZELHE
ETERIRTERE -

Rl R RIE AR EN2003F9 8 REARK
BARGSHIBEARMNRAREEREELARA ]
Wi =AM BTHORDEEREE -

M2008F 108 + AEERMRME R A Z3E
TR RN EZNEME QRS H T10%M&
= BREARISET - IWEAEFEZERT
SHEBEAMTREZARBEZHECEERE
m= AR -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n/-,r\ EE:%UILE’%%

For the year ended 31 December 2015 & Z2015F 12431 H IFFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax

Adjustments for:
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Finance costs
Interest income

Reversal of impairment losses on trade receivables

Write-off of trade receivables

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Gain on disposal of prepaid lease payments to a

related company

Net (gain) loss from fair value changes of
derivative financial instruments

Share of loss of a joint venture

RExK

B 75 il 22 7

R

BNEEFTIAHH

0E  BELERBZFE
LURG IR

FEHA

FEU B 5 BR R (B B 45 1ol 4
&YW E 5 Bk T iR
HEME  HEIREER
HERMNEEFRTRENR
Wz
TEEMIARAEZEF
(M) B8
BlEEEREER

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital

Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables

Increase in inventories

Increase (decrease) in amounts due to related
companies

Decrease in amounts due to substantial
shareholders

(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables

(Increase) decrease in amounts due from related
companies

Increase in derivative financial instruments

LEESEPINEERERE
FEAE 5 & E A RRFUR A (BB 40
78 ?m
FENRERRFEEMORD)
A B R FER

ﬁﬁ%%&ﬁﬂ%%@%ﬂ%m
FE Wi B3 A B F00B (32 )3

fTEER T AEM

Cash generated from operations
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
Enterprise Income Tax ("EIT") paid
Purchase of tax reserve certificates

Interest paid

REXBELNRS
EfPEARLMBE([HE])
EEABHR(TEERMER])

BEEMRS

ERHE

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

REXBFEREFHE
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2015
20154
HK$'000
THERT

2,750,162

13,168
857,735
154,860
(10,199)

1,825
5,609

(705)

(13,244)
152

3,759,363
669,067

(33,792)
116

(240,568)
(57.,463)

(2,475)
3,806

4,098,054

(243,430)
(9,442)
(303,442)

3,541,740

2014
20144
HK$'000
FAT

2,208,930

12,775
819,912
214,640
(16,170)
(4,600)
1,689
5,226

35,463
51

3,277,916
(294,031)
(138,711)

(8,570)

(5,124)
188,424

1,561

3,021,465
(141,068)

(3,688)
(335,793)

2,540,916



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

mERERER (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 & Z2015F 12431 H IFFE

2015
20155

NOTES HK$'000
FisE THET

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and

REED
BENE  BELRRE

equipment (3,000,059)
Purchase of prepaid lease payments EEREMNEENE (16,293)
Acquisition of assets and liabilities WEEEREE 32 —
Loan to a joint venture BREDTEER (4,263)
Placement of margin deposits BEHRESER (35,611)
Withdrawal of margin deposits REREBEEER 25,017
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEWE - BERZE

plant and equipment 1S 518 27,019
Proceeds on disposal of prepaid lease HEBNHERBETHERT

payments to a related company 1S 5RIE 34() 8,245
Interest received BEUFIE 10,199
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REZBFAARESFE

ACTIVITIES (2,985,746)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEED
Repayment of bank borrowings EERITEE (17,393,315)
Dividends paid ERRE (739,079)
Payment on repurchase of shares BE Ol M fn 1+ 3% (411,337)
New bank borrowings raised HEERITEE 18,916,123
NET CASH FROM FINANCING RETHMBREFE

ACTIVITIES 372,392
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERRESENWEMFR

EQUIVALENTS 928,386
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FAZRERELEEY

AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 2,032,567
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ER#EH ¥ (2.297)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZBRER

AT THE END OF THE YEAR, RE%EY
represented by bank balances and cash HERRITEHNES 2,958,656

2014
20144
HK$'000
FAT

(2,050,048
(182,251
(113,708

)
)
)
(7,800)

(2,318,456)

(18,195,425)
(659,547)
(111,148)

20,065,999

1,099,879

1,322,339

710,511
(283)

2,032,567
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 Z Z2015F 12431 H 1L F/Z

58

GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated and
registered as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (2013 Revision) of
the Cayman Islands on 21 May 2003 and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its parent and ultimate holding company is Gold
Best Holdings Ltd. (“Gold Best”), a private company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The ultimate
controlling shareholder of Gold Best is Mr. Lee Wan Keung
Patrick. The address of the registered office and the principal
place of business of the Company is disclosed in the Corporate

Information section of the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries and joint ventures

are set out in notes 35 and 17, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of

the Company.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2015 Annual Report
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ARrELEMABERAR - R2003F
SH21BIREBEAEHE R FA(2013
FEIMPAHAEFRER I RERD
BERPERAA  BROIRED
BERSMERAA([BRAT]) E
Mo BRAR&EEERAGZEGold
Best Holdings Ltd. ([ Gold Best]) -
AR EBE S MK
FLANAA] ° Gold Best 2 & #2258 A% B&
HAETBEMEE - AR EMNE
BN ER 2 i R AR ERA A
BERARTE -

NAIRE—MEEERAR  &E
BRAIRAELENETEER
D RIE R B SRR FE35 /%17 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2.
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(disclosure of a detailed list of new and revised
HKFRSs)

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined benefit plans: employee
contributions

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2010-2012 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2011-2013 Cycle

The application of the above new and revised HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial performance and positions for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated

financial statements.

FE R #TR] R ARME R B R B 5%
RELZA(BBMBREE
a1

e RAEET B BYBRE
A (] RAEBR B RMBRE
ERFHRBE ZKE)
AEERAFEERERATHE
AEFMAE([FESFTOAE])
B2 BRM B RELERTA

ERGENFE195 REMEAE -

(1B3TA) EEHK
BERMBHREER 201062
(BFTA) 2012F B
BRIBRE

A B B [
BENBRELDN  2011FZE
(BFTA) 2013FEH
BRIBRE
A B B [

REFRMB LA REEFTER
MBERELENEAREERAFER
BEFEZHBRARRKRRL, &
FRNEAVBBERIBBLEEXN

=98
=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 14

HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRS 11

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 16 and HKAS 38

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to

HKAS 16 and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 27

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 10,

HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Financial Instruments'
Regulatory Deferral Accounts?

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers'

Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations®

Disclosure Initiative®

Clarification of Acceptable
Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation®

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2012-2014 Cycle?

Agriculture: Bearer Plants’

Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements®

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception®

FE AT RAGHE T B8 5175
kR ([ BB s

,\JJ) (%)

B 9875 18 14 R AE B ET RAEE
ABRBYBREEL

AEBEVEREFERAUTERME
R R A 2 #R] BB RT & B W 7%

R -

BEM RS ER
F9%

B BEREED
F14%

BEU SRS £
#1585

BEU RS ER
F15E(BRTR)

BEGHENE ISR
(BETAR)

BEGERE 6%
RERGHENE
38 (BFTA)

BEU SRS £
(B3IK)

BERSHENE 165
RERGER
EMHR(BIIR)

BRSHERNE27H
(B3IK)

BEU RS ER
E10RRBBSH
K285
(BETAR)

AR BREER
F105 - AN

HERE125 R
BERGHES
E28% (B3I A)

ERIA

EERERP?

REEFPERH
LON

WEARSEREN
ELS

BRI

FrEEEED
AEX A ER
B

20126220145
BRERNBRS
A B 2 ke

BE EEMED

BUNBREL
EmE

REERABERA
ERERZANEE
HERTE

REEE:

ERAMHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. BRI REETEBYH

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

2 Effective for first annual HKFRS financial statements beginning on or after
1 January 2016.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive
model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current
revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18 Revenue,
HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related Interpretations
when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the Standard
introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

. Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

° Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies
a performance obligation

BRELZN( BB BREE
1))

9840 18 1 R E B H AT RS
ABRBYBREED(E)

1 M2018F1ATBRK % FAia 2 FEH
e S

2 R2016F 1R 1Bz ERABAZERE
BB REENOMBRRFEHBE

3 MR2016F 1R 1Bz BB ZFEBR
HEZ e

4 RiGEEE 2 B 2 & Rt 2 F R HH

ERMBREEREISHKIKAE
FERKWA ]

BAMBHREEMNF ISR BT
BT —EE-WEAERA - UE
REKEEFPARINKA - EFEH
BREERFE 155 EME - HERK
BEHRANBARERESBERE
SR EREBHIMUA ] BEEEF
EAF 1R ZEAEF | RABOR
N

BAMBREENBISHOZLR
AT —EEREEIRAANEBERR
BEPFHEEARERIRBENHEE
TRREBEAARILZEERIR
BMESHRE -  RERH - %&
Al AT ABARERKA

s F1F:BENE-—ETEFMNE
o E24: BRARAMENE

s FIF EEXRHER

e FAF¥  BRZERIBEAR
RIAREQEE

s FST  EBERTEAEMNAML
By RE R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Continued)

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive
guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 15.

In the opinion of the directors, it is not practicable to provide a
reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS 15 until the Group

performs a detailed review.

The directors of the Company anticipated that the application
of other new and revised HKFRSs will have no material impact
on these consolidated financial statements.

2.

JEFH%‘)T AIREIERT B BUHK
RELZA(BBMBREE
E'JJ)(,.%)

BB BHRELENFISHIRAEE
FERBWAIE)

REBEFBMBEREERF 155
E-HEETABANREHERR
A EEmABRBEEENRELD
AEEBYMT,IEH I - FE
FBREENFISKERFTRIER
MERIZETEMAE RS It
oh - BRI MELAEISHEIRE
KB EZOHE -

EERR EAKREFARN TK
% AAIREEBMBRSENE

1SS EE L A B MAET

ARREFHEYEAE MG RE
BRIBEEHMBHREERNHGREUB
BRI BEATE -
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B B R AR M A ()

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
("Co").

The provisions of the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622) regarding preparation of accounts and directors’
reports and audits became effective for the Company for the
financial year ended 31 December 2015. Further, the disclosure
requirements set out in the Listing Rules regarding annual
accounts have been amended with reference to the new CO
and to streamline with HKFRSs. Accordingly the presentation
and disclosure of information in the consolidated financial
statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2015
have been changed to comply with these new requirements.
Comparative information in respect of the financial year ended
31 December 2014 are presented or disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements based on the new
requirements. Information previously required to be disclosed
under the predecessor CO or Listing Rules but not under the
new CO or amended Listing Rules are not disclosed in these
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for the derivative financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.

3.

FTESTHE

REMBRRDREFTEGAMA
ERMBAMGHREEARR -
o AP B HRRBEBRME
FEMRA(TERRA D) REER
ARSI (R BEMED) RE 2B R E
BF} e

MBEBRAGRO(F6228 ) EH@E
BEBREFERERETZIBKEX
DHAAFTEZE2015F128318 1t
BB AR - o+ ETRBIAT
HERFERECBRBEREELE
A RGBS 7T I £E 1t BB S B
BMEENBEH - - Bk - &#HZE
2015 12 A3TBLEBEELRE
MBHREAZERZINREED T
ERNEBTHENETE - EHEZ
2014F 1231 A LM BFE Z LR
BHEREFEENGREMBHRE
NEVHHEE o BIFEATRQ T EH %
EWRAEUNEETEREREHN
NAMEAIS ISR LR BB AR
BEM EXRGEMBREFD
BERE -

REMBRRBELRALERE
HEREBERERAREAAREFELZ
TESRT AR  SFFBREML
RTX °

B RRA—RIZBIE WA R
BZRARE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Gy

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristic of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statement is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of
HKAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2, or value in use in HKAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purpose, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 Z Z2015€12H31H 1L F/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFHHEE#E)
(CONTINUED)
The principal accounting policies are set out below. FESHBEHIAT
Basis of consolidation RERBEE
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial NN DN N/NICTE ekl R =i D= )
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the BARREBRmERANALGS B
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the WK o EHEIEARAT
Company:
o has power over the investee; o  HEEHIWKER
e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its e REALHEWKREFEBZMER
involvement with the investee; and SERESNAERER &
e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. e FENTEEENIMEEHEMD
j#:ﬁ o
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if MEERIENET Lt =182 6 #
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one TERHN-HEKZHETERE - f
or more of the three elements of control listed above. rEESENIHERREARR

BT ERIHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

o the size of the Group's holding of voting rights relative to
the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

° rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

o any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into

line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Investment in joint venture

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of joint venture are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.
Under the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the joint venture. When the Group'’s share of losses
of a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that joint
venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the joint
venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive

obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment in joint venture (Continued)

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in

the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group’s investment in a joint venture. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable

amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with a joint venture of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with
the joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the joint
venture that are not related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances, net of

discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods
are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the

following conditions are satisfied:

the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant

risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

o the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with

ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

. the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

o it is probable that the economic benefits associated with

the transaction will flow to the Group; and

o the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the

transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest
income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that

asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Income from supply of steam and electricity is recognised upon
the provision of the steam and electricity.

Income from the rendering of wharf cargo handling services is

recognised in the year in which the services are provided.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
operating leases is described in the accounting policy for

leasing below.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of relevant lease. Initial direct
cost incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)

Leasehold land and buildings

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as to
whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the
Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating
leases, in which case the entire lease is classified as an
operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments
(including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land
element and building element of the lease at the inception of
the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in
the consolidated statement of financial position and is
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in
which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in

equity under the heading of translation reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions

attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they become receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit scheme are
recognised as an expense when the employees have rendered

services entitling them to the contributions.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the

accounting profit.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interest in joint venture, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are

expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings, held for use
in the production of goods or for administrative purposes,
other than construction in progress, are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated

impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are
classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their

intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost assets,
other than construction in progress, less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a

prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain
or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment on assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out
basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs

necessary to make the sales.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into one of the two
categories, including loans and receivables and financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss. The classification depends
on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying

amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
The Group's financial assets classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are derivatives that are not

designated as hedging instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at
fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on
the financial assets and is included in the ‘other gains or losses’
line item. Fair value is determined in the manner described in
note 29(iii).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Loans and receivables (including loan to a joint
venture, trade and other receivables, amounts due from related
companies, margin deposits and bank balances and cash) are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any impairment (see accounting policy on impairment of

loans and receivables below).

Impairment of loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of the reporting period. Loans and receivables are
considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future

cash flows of the investment have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in

interest and principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

TRIAE)

CREE(E)

B RN
ERFREEREREERMS LY
BHREMABREEXEENNZIE
MTESREE - EXRBRER(E
RAECEXER RBRUREZNAEM
R BREEARFA - RER
FRMRITEBNIEES)ABRFN X
% R A RBUE DR E R (B
20 T XA B E R % WK IRRE
EIEZEFTHER)TE -

ERFEYRER REHRFER
BERETR - MERETEER
RNPEREMEERELE 2 A
HEZREMHSZRENBFRER
ERERINZE  AERRLEURK

HEWERRE °

BMEZZEEF R

s BUAREFIEFEBREVH
R 3k

o EBY MARRANFEEEE
MBRAE 3

o {EFRAE Rl BE H b R B 5
EHE-

EGERER AR 2015 F£3R 79




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

mE

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of loans and receivables (Continued)

For certain categories of loans and receivables, such as trade
receivables, assets are assessed for impairment on a collective
basis even if they were assessed not to be impaired individually.
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group’s past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in
the portfolio past the average credit period of 45 to 90 days,
observable changes in national or local economic conditions

that correlate with default on receivables.

The amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the assets carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s

original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are

credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not

been recognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the

definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are

recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

The Group's financial liabilities classified as at fair value through
profit or loss are derivatives that are not designated as hedging
instruments.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are stated
at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial
liabilities and included in the ‘other gains or losses’ line item.

Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 29(iii).

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amounts due to related companies, amounts due to substantial
shareholders and bank borrowings are subsequently measured

at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition. Interest expense is recognised on
an effective interest basis.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contract are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirely, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit
or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 4. fhEtFEABE R 2 EERIK

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment loss on trade receivables and bills
receivables

The assessment of the impairment loss on trade receivables and
bills receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation of
collectability and aging analysis of accounts and on
management’s judgment. A considerable amount of judgment
is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these
receivables, including the current creditworthiness of each
customer. If the financial conditions of the Group’s customers
were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability
to make payments, additional allowances may be required.
Impairment is made based on the estimation of the future cash
flow discounted at the original effective rate. As at 31
December 2015, an impairment loss amounting to
HK$5,476,000 (2014: HK$5,476,000) was recognised on trade
receivables and bills receivables.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Income taxes

As at 31 December 2015, a deferred tax asset in relation to
unused tax losses of approximately HK$118,000,000 (2014:
approximately HK$98,000,000) was not recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability of the
deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether sufficient future
profits or taxable temporary differences will be available in the
future. In cases where the expectation for future profit streams
changes, a recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which

such a recognition takes place.

Recognition of deferred tax

As at 31 December 2015, no further deferred tax liabilities have
been recognised on the undistributed profits of the group
companies in the PRC after 2008 as the Group plans to retain
those profits in the respective entities for their daily operations
and future developments. In case there is a change in such
plan, additional tax liabilities will arise, which will be recognised
in the profit or loss for the period in which the management
intends to declare such profits in the foreseeable future or the
Group's future development plan is amended, whichever is
earlier. Details of the above unrecognised liabilities are set out
in note 25.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 Z Z2015€12H31H 1L F/Z

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDHER

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results AT ABRBEESVB®RE ERESIH

by operating segments under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments, [A&o 8 | HAREERKE DI

based on information reported to the Company's executive WAREENDN - MARRAIT

directors, being the chief operating decision maker (the EF HFrELERFE(NFER

“CODM™"), for the purposes of resource allocation and BEREREDIERERSE LT HD

assessment of segment performance, which focuses on types BREMEBRZER  ERFRAX

of goods delivered. The Group's operating and reportable NEWMZER - REBRIEBYB

segments under HKFRS 8 — Operating Segments are as follows: WMEERAER — LSBT 2

ERAHREDHEHINNAT :

(i)  Packaging paper — Kraft linerboard, test linerboard, () BEM-FER HEIE
coated duplex board, white top linerboard and high o BmMARE - BEFER
strength corrugating medium; K =58 FLAB 4K

(i) ~ Pulp; and (i) A% R

(iiiy ~ Tissue paper. (i) FAEL -
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDHBER (#)
(CONTINUED)
Segment revenues and results DERARFELE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results NTREAREDHE D 2AE
by reportable segment: WARFEEDT -
Year ended 31 December 2015 BZE2015F12A31ALLEE

Packaging Tissue Segment
paper Pulp paper total Eliminations Consolidated
BRE K BEE  AWEE Eak ®e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR THET THET TERT TR

REVENUE A
External sales HINHE 16,516,763 674,862 424,016 17,615,641 — 17,615,641
Inter-segment sales DEzEEE — 203,787 — 203,787 (203,787) =
16,516,763 878,649 424,016 17,819,428 (203,787) 17,615,641
SEGMENT PROFIT PEEF 2,815,711 78,403 32,909 2,927,023 — 2,927,023

Net gain from fairvalue T4 4B T A

changes of derivative NREE

financial instruments Fla 13,244
Unallocated income APBZBA 10,199
Unallocated expenses APBEzEH (45,444)
Finance costs B FS RN (154,860)
Profit before tax IR 2,750,162
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDHER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEBUWA R FELE (4F)
Year ended 31 December 2014 BZ2014F12A318LFE
Packaging Tissue Segment
paper Pulp paper total  Eliminations Consolidated
B R EEK AEAEF g Ny

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000
L TAL TET TAT TET TAT

REVENUE O

External sales HONHE 16,314,886 709,835 74,413 17,099,134 — 17,099,134

Inter-segment sales NEbzBEE — 109,942 — 109,942 (109,942) —

16,314,886 819,777 74,413 17,209,076 (109,942) 17,099,134

SEGMENT PROFIT AHBEF 2,377,429 21,369 7,298 2,406,096 — 2,406,096
Net loss from fair value — $T4£ 47 I A

changes of derivative NREE

financial instruments FEE (35,463)
Unallocated income AAEZWA 60,385
Unallocated expenses Aoz H (7,448)
Finance costs BB (214,640)
Profit before tax IR 2,208,930
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the KE DIz ST BER RT3 ATIE
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. ZAREEEGTHE - HHEF
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment BEDEFTRENAF - i E DR
without allocation of net gain (loss) from fair value changes of RETESBMITERARBELZ FU
derivative financial instruments, interest income, net exchange m(EE) - FIBRA - ERF(E
(loss) gain, finance costs and other unallocated administrative Bl - BB AREMEKDBIT
expenses. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the BRER WhREBLEERKEE
purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment. RERDBERKXRTMM 2R 25T

BHE -

o6 54 & Ty IR 1T T IR (B AR

<]

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates.

n D
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDHER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities PHEERAR
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities NTRRAIREDBEI D 2 AE
by reportable segment: BERBESIT
Packaging Tissue
paper Pulp paper Consolidated
BEE N FEHK =E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FTET FTET FET
As at 31 December 2015  A2015%
12A31H
Segment assets DENE E 27,974,611 2,578,222 1,850,498 32,403,331
Unallocated assets ADBEE 3,195,732
Consolidated total assets ~ #RAREE 35,599,063
Segment liabilities SEEE 2,183,535 2,255,203
Unallocated liabilities Aoz aE 16,107,673
Consolidated total liabilities 474 # & (& 18,362,876

As at 31 December 2014 720144

128318
Segment assets DEEE 29,351,267 2,492,257 632,416 32,475,940
Unallocated assets A2 EE 2,260,880
Consolidated total assets 4 & @B EE 34,736,820
Segment liabilities HEaE 2,577,149 41,845 31,451 2,650,445
Unallocated liabilities ApfEzEE 14,609,391
Consolidated total liabilities 44 2 & & 17,259,836
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

5.

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, all assets are allocated
to operating segments other than derivative financial
instruments, tax recoverable, margin deposits, bank balances
and cash and other assets used jointly by reportable segments,
and all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than
derivative financial instruments, tax payable, bank borrowings
and other liabilities for which reportable segments are jointly

liable.

Revenue from major products

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its

major products:

WARDEER (#)

7

MEEREGEHE)

REZDBREAERRDBEDEE
R MBEEGDR TR
AERMTA  AJREBIE - RED
TR RITEBRERS LA RS
DEKRIMAZ Bt EERIN) AR
PrERBEOSETRESM(ITE
ERITAE BAME  RITEER
AHEDAHARENS 2 E MR ER
gh) e

& a8 (11

REETBEEBBA

T A 5 E B AR A
S -

Packaging paper (including linerboard and /83 % 4% (/4% 245 i 4% }2 FU AR i 4L
corrugating medium)

Pulp iS4
Tissue paper EEAK

2015 2014
20155 20144
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTET FHEIT

)
16,516,763 16,314,886
674,862 709,835
424,016 74,413
17,615,641 17,099,134
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDHER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Geographical information Ui B R
Over 95% (2014: 95%) of the Group's revenue were derived AEBZWAEIBEIS% (20144
from external customers in the PRC. 95% ) KB HEISEE o
Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented REEFRDEEEAH DREEM
based on the geographical location of the assets. EHL 25 ©

Non-current assets

FRBEE
2015 2014
2015% 20144
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THETT
The PRC other than Hong Kong HE - BHAERI 23,247,089 23,059,915
Socialist Republic of Vietnam Mg EE LR
(“Vietnam") (F#el) 1,288,740 399,200
Hong Kong BB 21,631 60,769
24,557,460 23,519,884
Information about major customers FRETEEFZEH
None of the Group’s customers contributed over 10% of the AR EHREAALELARER
Group's total revenue for the current and prior reporting PEASBEBEKARERBIO%
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

OTHER INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 Z Z2015€12H31H 1L F/Z

Income from supply of steam and
electricity

Income from wharf cargo handling

Sales of materials and waste paper

Value added tax and other tax refund

Net foreign exchange gains

Interest income from banks

Government subsidies for pier facilities
(note)

Compensation for damaged goods from
suppliers and insurance companies

Others

HEERLEIRA

REBBEEERA

BER MR E

BRERERREMER

OB B s

RITH B WA

TR 0 55 SR AR e 2 8 R
GES

HEFHLRRATMERER

Fir i 2 B {E
H At

Hagr A

2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
82,547 107,310
62,185 54,454
57,118 75,524
156,881 68,410
— 44,215
10,199 16,170
23,153 30,410
= 7,963
35,738 21,941
427,821 426,397

note: The Group received unconditional subsidies from a local municipal

government of Rui Chang, Jiangxi Province in the PRC, in relation to the

development and advancement of a pier owned by the Group in Rui

Chang. No other contingencies attach to the government subsidies that

have been recognised.

FEE - A EYE drp BT 79 A B & T U Bt
AEBERIESHEANHE B R RIE
B (R 1A R - O HERRL IR 475 RA I
A EIH
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BAFERA
2015 2014
20155 20144
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Interest on bank borrowings BITEERE 303,442 335,793
Less: amounts capitalised to property, BE - ME BERREZ
plant and equipment BERER (148,582) (121,153)
154,860 214,640
Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose from the FRZERMCEERRTIR —RE
general borrowings and are calculated by applying a BRELE NEEREERSICE
capitalisation rate of 3.3% (2014: 3.5%) per annum to AL FFE3.3%(20144F : 3.5%)
expenditures on qualifying assets. E o
8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 8. MEBZH

2015 2014
20155 20144
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHRT FAT

Income tax recognised in profit or loss:  W{Ez AR 7 MEH

Current tax REATLIR

—The PRC EIT — B EMEH PYERT 151,933
(Over)underprovision in previous year EFE(BE) TR EE

- The PRC EIT — B EMREH (1,834) 14,135

- Hong Kong -5 74,600 —
Deferred tax (note 25) EERIIE (FI5E25)

— Charge to profit or loss —ftAE® 122,158 138,468
Total income tax recognised in RIBE AR 2 BFIEH

profit or loss 418,487 304,536
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (contivueD)

The Group's profit is subject to taxation from the place of its
operations where its profit is generated and is calculated at the

rate prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The PRC

The Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to corporate
income tax at the rate of 25% except that five (2014: four) of
these subsidiaries are entitled to preferential rate of 15% for

the Group’s financial year ended 31 December 2015.

Hong Kong

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Hong Kong Inland
Revenue Department (“IRD”) commenced a field audit on the
Hong Kong tax affairs of certain subsidiaries of the Company,
mainly on their source of profits. Since then the IRD has issued
protective profits tax assessments against these subsidiaries in
the aggregate amount of HK$374,385,000 for the years of
assessment from 2003/2004 to 2008/2009 (i.e. the six financial
years ended 31 March 2009). The Group lodged objections
with the IRD and the IRD agreed to holdover the tax claimed on
the basis that tax reserve certificates at certain amounts were
purchased. As at 31 December 2015, tax reserve certificate of
HK$72,430,000 (2014: HK$62,988,000) have been purchased
by the Group.

It was the opinion of the directors that those subsidiaries had
not conducted any sales or manufacturing activities in Hong
Kong and no Hong Kong Profits Tax should therefore be
payable. However, having considered the different opinion of
the IRD on such controversial issue, and in order to avoid a
further protracted exchange of correspondences, which may
not be the best interest from the commercial perspective, the
directors decided to take a compromised settlement approach
to resolve the case.

MEB K (#)

REEZBNARERNERERE &
BT BAAIR - BRI E R RDA
BEERERZHEE -

]

AEEBRFEMWEARZEAD
E¥BHHEER25%  MEFAM
(2014%F : WAEA)MBRARREZR
2015F 12 A3 1B LB FEEZER
REEMEHMEISY

&8

REE2010F3 8318 ILEFE -
EETBER(IBBERD REAR
ARBETHEBARBEERKEEE
MEMES(ETZRERFRR) -
H1% - BB 5 2003,72004
2008 /2009 2 R FE (BIEH =
200943 A31HIEANETREE) -
[ 5% 5 T B A B2 HRFR MRS R
SR A £ £ %374,385,00008 T °
MEAR MBS RRD RS KB
REMBRAABE —T2EMNE
MEMER ELIRAEEHBE - R
2015412 A31H * ZZHBER A
B8 E 72,430,000 7T (20144 -
62,988,000/ L) 2 R FH -

EERR RENBRAAKREESR
BETHEXNEERS  BtIE T
FERBEENSEH - R - BE
AWM RENFEEELFTE TR
BR ARE-—FHEREEENR
HWHFEREAE EORENS
ESRTERDZBENR T BUILR -
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B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (contivueD)
Hong Kong (Continued)

Against this background and following a series of subsequent
negotiations with the IRD, a compromised settlement was
reached with the IRD in December 2015 at a sum of
HK$74,600,000 as a full and final settlement of the whole case
for the years of assessment 2003/2004 to 2014/2015. This sum
payable has been charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year
ended 31 December 2015.

After offsetting the tax reserve certificates of HK$72,430,000
previously purchased, an additional amount of HK$2,170,000
was paid in January 2016.

Macau

The Macau subsidiaries incorporated under Decree-Law no.
58/99/M are exempted from Macau complementary tax (Macau
income tax) as long as they comply with the relevant

regulations and do not sell their products to a Macau resident.

Vietnam

The Vietnam subsidiaries are subjected to Vietnam Corporate
Income Tax at a maximum rate of 22%. No provision for
Vietnam Corporate Income Tax has been made for both years

as the Vietnam subsidiaries incurred losses for both years.

Other

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

MEBIH (#)
BB (&)

TEHATRTREEEBER —ES
A& - R2015F 12 AEBTE B iE
BX 2L 0 bA74,600,00008 T #iEE &Y
2% R E BB 200372004
20142015 2 RHFEEREMZ
TEERGERER - LB A
E2015F12A31BILFEE 245418
HERHEMEERERA -

B A2 EEE 272,430,000/ Ti#
BAEMRIRE - 822,170,000t
R2016F1 AT -

oA

R FTHY E  A AR 3R 5 58/99/M 51K
SHMMKY - HER R HNRPIH
ZABORFIMER)  AIRAEEE
STHBER AT SRRMAL AT
HEEM °

M
MEME AR AR TZIN22%HE
BB EERMSR - AR 8K
BRAAMRMEFEHHEESR K
WELAMEFEFIREMEEMS
T o

Ht

Hib BLAE S REL /K ERZ(E
RIREESERER ZHERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conTiNuED) 8. HMEBZHE)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

FARBRAXEAREFGBS RE
fEEREROBMERNOT

2015 2014

20155 20144

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Profit before tax %51 B & A 2,750,162 2,208,930
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25% BRAME25%(2014F : 25%)

(2014: 25%) (note i) (BT 687,541 552,233
Tax effect of share of loss of a joint venture  JEE A 4P EERMRBTE 38 13
Tax effect of expenses not deductible THMBH T EOR T E

for tax purpose 65,256 73,451
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BERBHBANTBEE

purpose (18,005) (8,625)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KERBBEEONG T E 4,514 4,165
Effect of tax exemption granted to Macau  JBFIMi B AR ER AR NT L

subsidiaries (169,344) (180,088)
Effect of concessionary rates granted to the FEE AR EBEH TN L

PRC subsidiaries (225,143) (150,953)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries R E M al AR 2 ER N B R A&

operating in other jurisdictions TRAMENTE 864 205
Underprovision in previous years (note i) @& & A 2 B (B aEii) 72,766 14,135
Tax charge for the year FABBRX 418,487 304,536
notes: Bt 5

(i)

(ii)

This represents the domestic income tax rate in the jurisdiction where a
substantial portion of the Group's operation is based.

Underprovision for the year ended 31 December 2015 of HK$74,600,000
represented additional Hong Kong income tax expense on the
compromised settlement reached with IRD.

Overprovision for the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 of
HK$1,834,000 and HK$3,994,000 respectively, mainly represented
additional deduction for production cost qualified as research and
development expenditures under relevant PRC tax rules for income tax
purpose in the PRC, i.e. an additional 50% of such expenses could be
deemed as deductible expenses. The approval of the 50% additional
deduction of research and development expenses for last year was
obtained in current year.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, a subsidiary of Group
incorporated in the PRC was requested by the local tax authority to
perform a self-assessment of tax payable for the calendar year 2009 to
2012, by applying higher profit margins to its sales to a fellow subsidiary
incorporated in Macau. As a result of the self-assessment, the Group paid
HK$18,129,000 and recognised such amount as an underprovision in
prior years.

' BREARERANDEBEEMEZ

BERER CEHAEHRE -

HZE2015F12A831B L FE 2R #E
%74,600,000% 7T & BT 15 B iE K #
WM R BEINE B TSR o

HZE20155 K% 2014512 A31 B 1IF 5
EzHBERE D R A1,834,000/ T &
3,994,000 - E2AA B ERR
) A E AR YR P BB AR AR R
BEATSHOEINDE - L EEATS
ZS50%FIMNIURER - LFEHEER
BRSNS 0% R A F E B E R -

REE2014F12A831HLEFE © K
SE-BRFRERKIHMNBERRRE
75 #EBA Sk ¥ 2009 F E2012F &
FRABEERRSEMNHEE T —HBR
RPN 2 RAEREENEQRETE
BAB  BEBEERAR  AEEBEH
18,129,000 T h Z e EE R AR
TEETREME -
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 Z Z2015€12H31H 1L F/Z

9. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 9. FEZBA
2015 2014
2015%F 2014%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Profit for the year has been arrived at after ~ EERFLHKR (B A)
charging (crediting):
Directors’ emoluments (note 10) E=# e (fiE10) 37,597 30,946
Staff salaries and other benefits, BIFHeRkEMETRN -
excluding those of directors TEEES 782,631 801,455
Contributions to retirement benefit RIREF IR
schemes, excluding those of directors TEEESE 54,208 55,177
Total employee benefit expense EERAMZBE 874,436 887,578
Auditor’s remuneration % B AT BN &
— Audit services —ZE R 5,801 6,111
— Non-audit services — BT 2,154 572
Cost of inventories recognised as expense  F&E K ANHER & 14,037,356 14,027,532
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments TET T & BB B8 13,168 12,775
Depreciation of property, plant and W BEREHEITE
equipment 857,735 819,912
Total depreciation and amortisation e LA 870,903 832,687
Loss on disposal of property, LEWE - BE &
plant and equipment HfE 2 BB 5,609 5,226
Net exchange loss FIEH BE 37,285 —
Operating lease rentals in respect of land T RIEFHLELAE
and buildings He 9,700 10,820
Write-off of trade receivables EUE 5 BR FUM BR 1,825 1,689
Reversal of impairment loss on trade EWE 5 RFORE
receivables 518 [0 4% (4,600)
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

10. DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS

10.

Directors’ and the chief executive’'s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and

Companies Ordinance, were as follows:

EERFETHAEME

FRNEERFETHRAENHER
BE A E AR B R R BRI B BE a0
T

Other emoluments

Hitt =

Contributions

Salaries to retirement
and other benefit  Share-based
benefits schemes payments
Fees HeRk EREF iR 78 & A Total
e H o 3g sHEIR RE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TET FTERT FET TERT FTET
2015 2015%F
Executive directors HITEF
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond X EELT
Mr. Lee Man Bun FOREE
Mr. Kunihiko Kashima BEALELAE
(resigned on 24 April 2015) (7A20154F
4248 HT)
Mr. Li King Wai Ross FIRERE
Non-executive directors FHTEE
Professor Poon Chung Kwong BRI
Mr. Yoshio Haga FEEELRE
(resigned on 24 April 2015) (R2015%
4R248FE)
Independent non-executive directors B I ITE E
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony TRRESE
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Daviesst 4
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David AEA S

97

BXERAR AR 2015 F3R]



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

10. DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 10. ESBERFETHAENES &)
EMOLUMENTS (continuep)

Other emoluments

Hinfi &
Contributions
Salaries to retirement
and other benefit Share-based
benefits schemes payments
Fees ek RINEF PR % 1+ Total
e HinsErl IR A A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTET FHET FAET FTAET
2014 20144
Executive directors HITEZE
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond EXkEL 12,375 — — — 12,375
Mr. Lee Man Bun BREE 12,658 1,517 — — 14,175
Mr. Kunihiko Kashima EESALCELE — — — — —
Mr. Li King Wai Ross Bt 2,683 921 — — 3,604
Non-executive directors HHTEE
Professor Poon Chung Kwong ERRHF — _ _ _ _
Mr. Yoshio Haga FERERE — — — - -
Independent non-executive directors B I TEE
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony TROREAE 264 — — — 264
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Davies’t & 264 - — — 264
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David AKX LE 264 — — — 264
28,508 2,438 — — 30,946
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond is also the Chairman of the EXEETRAEAQBERE - Ll
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those BECHEBEEEREFMEMR
for services rendered by him as the Chairman. B AR 2 Bl & o
For the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, no HZEZ2015F %2014 128318 1t
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an FE AEEYEZFECHE T
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a EEERFEEMAIMARE
compensation for loss of office. No directors waived any BRRKEEBRRNEZHE - ZEH
emoluments during these periods. M\ EENEMS -
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 1. AfuGeaMEs AL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the rEBEEaMEzRAMAL - He
Group, three (2014: three) were directors of the Company = (2014% : =) REARARESE
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 10. MEMEE RN LM F108E - |
The aggregate emoluments of the five highest paid individuals, UkaMEAB(BREES) 2EF
including directors, were as follows: BT -

2015 2014

20155 20144

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Salaries and other benefits FekAEMmERN 40,762 34,242
Contributions to retirement benefit RORAE A EH &R

schemes 36 17

34,259

The emoluments were within the following bands: B F TR
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001%7C21,500,000/8 7T 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7L E3,000,000%8 7T 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7T 24,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$12,000,001 to HK$ 12,500,000 12,000,001 7L E=12,500,000/%8 7T 1
HK$14,000,001 to HK$ 14,500,000 14,000,001& 7% 14,500,000 7T 1
HK$16,000,001 to HK$ 16,500,000 16,000,001 7L E16,500,0007%8 7T —
5
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12.

13.

100

DIVIDENDS

12.

2

Dividends recognised as distribution: BRAED KRS

Final dividend of HK$0.075 in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2014
(2014: Final dividend of HK$0.073 in
respect of the year ended
31 December 2013) per share

Interim dividend of HK$0.085 in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2015
(2014: Interim dividend of HK$0.068 in

respect of the year ended

F{RZ0.073787T)

31 December 2014) per share HR%0.068%7T)

HE2014F12831BEFEZ
KEB/EFR0.0758 T
(20145 : HE2013F
12A31BIEFE 2 RERE

HZE2015F 128318 LFEZ
IR B 5 %0.085 8 T
(20145 : BE2014%F
12A318ILEFEZFHRE

2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
348,750 341,640
390,329 317,907
739,079 659,547

A final dividend of HK$0.095 per share in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2015 (2014: final dividend of HK$0.075
per share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2014) has
been proposed by the directors and is subject to approval by
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the earnings per share is based on the profit
for the year of HK$2,331,675,000 (2014: HK$1,904,394,000)
and 4,624,029,789 (2014: 4,680,422,244) shares in issue
during the year.

No diluted earnings per share in both years was calculated as
there were no potential ordinary shares outstanding during
both years.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2015 Annual Report
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EFEEFKEE 2015912 A 31
HIEFERARKRESR0.095F T
(20145 : HZE2014F 1283181
FERBREGR0.0758mL) « 1
ARERREEERREASHE -

28 A

ERANDIARXEE AT
2,331,675,000 /& 7T ( 2014 F
1,904,394,0007 ) R F N E 31T
i 15 4,624,029,789 I% (2014 4F -
4,680,422, 2448% ) BEELTE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

S i >
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BERZ®E
Furniture,
fixturesand
Computer equipment Leasehold Motor Plantand  Construction
Buildings system M BT improvements vehicles machinery inprogress Total
| E2 eSS EERRGE HAENERE RE BE R ERIR @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fitn T Titn Fin T Fitn T T
cost RA
At 1 January 2014 201451818 4,485,471 44,870 591,833 533,784 62,165 16,624,997 2,685,696 25,028,816
Exchange realignment  E} B384 2,553 4 537 3 n 20983 11,029 35,241
Additions HhE 433,229 2,425 14,921 2,441 5,784 60,303 1,573,718 2,093,321
Acquisition of assetsand W AEREE
liabiites (note 32) (M3E32) - 7 430 651 369 - 353,256 354,713
Transfers @z 42,280 — 41,419 2,719 — 518,588 (605,006) —
Disposals/written off HeE /W — (483) (1,334 — (4,920) (9,108) (17,285) (33,130)
At 31 December 2014 2014124318 4,963,533 46,863 647,806 539,618 63,470 17,216,263 4,001,408 27,478,961
Exchange realignment ERENER (248,584) (2,029) (32,331) (26,088) (3,544) (865,447) (147,130) (1,325,153)
Additions NE 191,648 " 6,473 652 7,536 122,251 2,520,964 2,849,535
Transfers g2 409,748 — 214,608 11,258 — 1,778,558 (2,414172) —
Disposals/written off ek - (676) (3,184) (120) (9,053) (23,510) (13,854) (50,397)
At 31 December 2015 2015124318 5,316,345 44,169 833,372 525,320 58,409 18,228,115 3,947,216 28,952,946
DEPRECIATION &
At 1 January 2014 201451818 988,478 18,319 275,829 175,251 38,867 2,702,112 — 4,198,856
Exchange realignment ERENAR 1,061 18 123 219 2 2,803 — 4,256
Provided for the year EREE 206,635 5,909 44,550 26,716 8,159 527,943 — 819,912
Eliminated on disposals/ & /# B i
written off - (1) (1,019 - (3,952) (3,751) - (8,723)
At 31 December 2014 2014F12A318 1,196,174 24,245 319,483 202,186 43,106 3,229,107 - 5,014,301
Exchange realignment  E} E3TAL (60,480) (317) (15,901) (10,052) (1814) (163,906) - (252,470,
Provided for the year EREE 207,924 7197 56,733 26,260 9,301 550,320 — 857,735
Eliminated on disposals/ & /#i B £
written off - - (2,846) (12) (6,015) (8,896) — (17,769)
At 31 December 2015 2015124318 1,343,618 31,125 357,469 218,382 44,578 3,606,625 — 5,601,797
CARRYING VALUE REE
At 31 December 2015 2015F12A318 3,972,727 13,044 475,903 306,938 13,831 14,621,490 3,947,216 23,351,149
At 31 December 2014 20145128318 3,767,359 22,618 328,323 337432 20,364 13,987,156 4,001,408 22,464,660
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BMERZ®EE)

(CONTINUED)

notes: BT

(i) The above buildings of the Group represent buildings on lands under (i) Pz AEBEFIRTBEPRAEE L
medium-term lease in the PRC. 2 EF o

(i) Certain buildings of the Group are erected on lands in the PRC with (i) SEEEETEFTFERDARTEHEH
respect to which the Group has not been granted formal title of EABEAE2FRBE L E - R2015
ownership. At 31 December 2015, the carrying value of such buildings F1I2A3HE  REBFZEEE
was HK$1,002,912,000 (2014: HK$1,442,033,000). In the opinion of A 1,002,912,000 7 7T ( 2014 &
directors, the absence of formal title to these buildings does not impair 1,442,033,0008 L) - EER /R
the value of the relevant buildings to the Group as the Group has paid ZEBFIEABERT TG REEEN
substantially the full purchase consideration of these land use rights and EEFEE EBAREEDXFXBH
the probability of being evicted on the ground of an absence of formal BEZSIMERAE 2 RERARRE
title is remote. The directors also believe that formal title of these = A O 3R B T UGB A R I
buildings will be granted to the Group in due course. THM - EENMEEETAKKERE

BRTZEBFZEAERRE -

@iy As disclosed in notes 30 and 34, certain portions of the buildings have (i)  AMFE30KR34FTH - BFEFRETH
been leased to a related party. These buildings were not reclassified as MEMF—REALT - HRBAEIDHM
investment properties as the leased portions are insignificant. TRE ZEBFIRANERREY

.,

(iv)  Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant and (iv) BERIRN 9% BERRKBET
equipment other than construction in progress over their estimated useful N EFAGT RS EER - REFAIREY
lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual values, using LA E A FHRITE A MUE B AR - R
the straight-line method, at the following rates per annum: I
Buildings 5% 1gF 5%
Computer system 10% B e 10%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20% Fh -~ EERE REE 20%
Leasehold improvements 5%-15% HEMEREKE 5%-15%
Motor vehicles 20% AE 20%
Plant and machinery 3'5%-20% S R Eg 3'5%-20%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

15. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 15. FRNHEERE

The Group's prepaid lease payments comprise leasehold lands
held under medium-term leases located in:

AEERNEERBERRTHEE
ANZHEEL AR

2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHET

The PRC =8
Vietnam g

696,543 736,744
42,441 44,647

738,984 781,391

Analysed for reporting purposes as: WMERBMEZDHT
Non-current asset EREEE
Current asset MENEE

721,498 763,789
17,486 17,602

738,984 781,391

As at 31 December 2015, the carrying value of land use rights
in respect of which the Group had not been granted formal
title of ownership was HK$150,504,000 (2014:
HK$194,349,000). In the opinion of the directors, the absence
of formal title to these land use rights does not impair the value
of the relevant properties to the Group as the Group has paid
substantially the full purchase consideration of these land use
rights and the probability of being evicted on the ground of an
absence of formal title is remote. The directors also believe that
formal title to these land use rights will be granted to the
Group in due course.

M2015F 128310 » EEAER
FERBAEZ LHFEAEZE®
& /150,504,000 7T (2014 4F :
194,349,000 7L) - EER ARG
ETHHFERAEEIXNEERLTE
BEEEEEYMXER BAAE
EEXNATMBEEZSE LHER
BZRERARBREXNERENE
W E e e T B o
EENHEETABREESER
TZETMEREEXEBRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

16. DEPOSITS PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF 16. BEYX BREERZERL
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND HEREMTET 2
LAND USE RIGHTS
The deposits were paid by the Group in connection with the il eRAEBRTHEERE
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and land use MEBENYE  BEREER T
rights for new production facilities. The related commitments TRAEMNS BEWE BER
for acquisition of property, plant and equipment and land use FEAR LM EREN A EAER
rights are disclosed in note 31. RWE31HEE -
17. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 17. & ERER
2015 2014
2015%F 20144
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET
Cost of an unlisted investment RE&EREZREMRERR
in joint venture —
Exchange realignment EREHHEE 1,647
Share of profit and JEAE B R E At 2
other comprehensive income 152
1,799
Loan to a joint venture (note ii) HEPEER(M ) 91,690
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e M| KRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

17. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (continuED) 17. 8¢t
notes: Bt 5
(i) Details of the Group’s joint ventures and its subsidiary at the end of the (i)

18.

reporting period are as follows:

Issued and

Name of joint venture Place of fully paid share capital/ Proportion of issued

Frem )

E)I

RBERRAEE 22 DER AN B

REFBMOT

and fully

and its subsidiary Form of incorporation and  registered capital paid up capital held by the Group
AELER entity ventures operations BERTRERERA/ KEEREERITR Principal activity
EWEARAR REEERIRER  RIREERY HEREL HRRALA ITER
Directly Indirectly
E# i3 3
2014
20145
%
Joint venture:
RERE:
Southern Hill Company Limited ~ Limited incorporated Hong Kong Ordinary shares - HK$2 —  Investment holding
("Southern Hill") BRARNI i) LRk-2%7 REER
BeERAR(EE])
Its wholly-owned subsidiary:
H2ERANELA
HERRERAR Limited incorporated ~ The PRC Registered capital 50 Provision of port facilties
(Ruichang Lee & Man BRARKTL G ~15§12,000,000 RASEOSH
Logistics Company Limited) AR
~12,000,000%7C

(ii) The loan is provided to the joint venture in the form of a shareholder’s (ii)
loan and it forms part of the net investment in the joint venture. The
amount is unsecured, interest-free and no fixed repayment term but the
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future.
INVENTORIES 18. #&

Raw materials
Finished goods

B

BXERAR AR 2015 F3R]

BECERRARRE R AR ERK
RAELEFREN D - ZEETY
EEN  REREBEBETENY  EREE

RBEEEE] - bk 0 A BETE AT TR &
R o

2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
2,514,337 2,441,223
577,681 816,668
3,092,018 3,257,891
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. EREBE S R EMIRR
2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FABTT
Trade receivables FEUE 5 BRI 2,424,333 2,689,886
Less: allowance for doubtful debt o RIEEREE (5,476) (5,476)

2,418,857 2,684,410
Bills receivables FEUL 5 1,104,250 1,923,853

3,523,107 4,608,263

Prepayments and deposits for BERMENZREN S

purchase of raw materials 613,687 599,899
Other deposits and prepayments Hih il & MBI FIE 67,040 88,014
Value added tax receivables JFE W 3% (8 5 IR 442,930 401,665
Other receivables H b fE W 5108 222,447 193,586

4,869,211 5,891,427
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (conTinuep)

notes:

(U]

(ii)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines its credit limits. Credit sales are
made to customers with a satisfactory and trustworthy credit history.
Credit limits attributed to customers are reviewed regularly. The Group
allows its customers an average credit period of 45 to 90 days. The
following is an aged analysis of trade and bills receivables presented
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period, which
approximated the respective revenue recognition dates.

19. EWEBE S REMEIRR (&)

AEERERNERMAFTLR - SaFh%

BEEEFPNEREERATHEEER
B GEHERERTREECHREN
BEF  BEFPEERETHMTURS - A
SEETEPNTHEARHARASAE
90H - U T RMEMAIZERAH(A
EREENRAERES) 27 ZEKE
2 EEBRERNREDT

Aged: BREC
Not exceeding 30 days @30 H
31-60 days 31—60H
61-90 days 61—90H
91-120 days 91—120H
Over 120 days 12088 &

2015 2014
20154 20145
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
2,602,159 3,476,684
709,137 842,643
148,794 202,880
12,497 39,624
50,520 46,432
3,523,107 4,608,263

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balances are debtors with an
aggregate carrying amount of HK$63,017,000 (2014: HK$86,056,000)
which were past due at the reporting date but for which the Group has
not provided for impairment loss as the Group considered such balances
could be recovered based on historical experience. As at 31 December
2015, customers pledged prepaid lease payments and machinery as
collateral security for trade receivables of an aggregate carrying amount
of HK$268,913,000 (2014: HK$78,826,000). The directors consider all
trade receivables (other than those for which impairment losses have been
recognised) at the end of the reporting date are of good credit quality
with reference to the track records of these customers under internal
assessment by the Group.

(if)

BXERAR AR 2015 F3R]

AEEEWESEREHRTERERR

& #£63,017,000 7% T (2014 &F -
86,056,000 7T ) 89 fE I & 5 BR A
EHRESEH  MAEERABRIE
BEKR  ZFTEGETTFUKE -
W EETIRRE BB EE - 2015
F12A31H  FFUBEMBAEHRER
WERIEAEARZEKE SERER
&4 268,913,000 7T (2014 4 :
78,826,000/ 7T) - ERKBIRIEZSE
BPMTELEELN NG - TF
RATEREPRMEEKE ZER(Z
EERRREEBORINGAERLT
EEEE -
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES conmvuepy  19. BIRE 5 R EM IR (&)

notes: (Continued)
(ii) (Continued)
Ageing of trade receivables which were past due but not impaired

BRE - (#)
(i)  (#)

160 55181 14 S 060 L O B LK 5 BR R Y AR

2015
20154
HK$'000
FET

91-120 days 91—120H
Over 120 days 120H LA E

12,497
50,520

63,017

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

RERBEED

2015
20154
HK$'000
FHExT

At 1 January MMAA1E
Reversal of impairment losses on trade receivables & r'E 5 B 30 {E#518 [l 3¢

5,476

At 31 December M12A31H

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually impaired
trade receivables with an aggregate balance of HK$5,476,000 (2014:
HK$5,476,000) which have either been placed under liquidation or are in
severe financial difficulties.

(iii) Trade and other receivables that are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out below:

2014
20144
HK$'000
FAET
39,624
46,432

86,056

2014
20144
HK$'000
F#T
10,076

(4,600)

5,476

REEBEFBREAEL RSB GRE
MREENEKE S EFRE - AL
15,476,000/ 7T (20144F : 5,476,000

BIT) °

(i) WA BEEEEEEYD
WE 5 R EMERAT

2015
20155
HK$'000

FET

HK$ BT
United States dollars ("US$") Erx([Ex])

237,229
31,804
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FE M mARMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

20. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) RELATED 200 EW(S)BEEQARAREER
COMPANIES AND SUBSTANTIAL RFIE
SHAREHOLDERS
Amounts due from related companies disclosed pursuant to RIBER R ADEGRDIZE622G T A
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap 622G are as B R E AR RIBLT ¢
follows:

Maximum
amount
Balance at Balance at outstanding
31 December 1 January during
2015 2015 the year
Name of related company Terms M20155 20154 FR
BEARER 3 12A318 &8 1R1B&H% SEPE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET THERT
Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Unsecured, non-interest bearing and
Limited ("Jiangsu Chemical”) repayable on demand
(note i) EIH  PERBRNERKEE
IEHEX AL TARRAR
(DI&ACT ) (M) . , 10,413
Lee & Man Industrial Unsecured, non-interest bearing and
Manufacturing Limited repayable on demand
("LMIML") (note ii) BER  REREARBEXREEER
EBXEXARLA
(MExEX]) (M) 12,340 , 29,895
notes: BT
(i) The company is beneficially owned and controlled by Mr. Lee Wan Keung (i) FZABARR A REIERKR R ER %L
Patrick, the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company. ?i A R -
(i)~ The Company is indirectly wholly owned by the spouse of Mr. Li King Wai (i) ZATRARARRAERTZEETEZRRB
Ross (a director of the Company) who is also a daughter of Mr. Lee Wan MARARREERIRRTERLES
Keung Patrick, the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company. ZRAMETEREER °
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mE

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

20.

110

AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) RELATED
COMPANIES AND SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS (conminuep)

As at 31 December 2014, HK$518,000 of the amounts due to
substantial shareholders represent trade balance due to Nippon
Paper Industries Co., Ltd. (“Nippon Paper”), a former
substantial shareholder of the Company, which disposed of all
shares held during the year ended 31 December 2015. The
amount was unsecured and interest-free. The Group generally
allowed related companies an average credit period of 30 days
and the amount was aged less than 30 days. As at 31
December 2014, the balance was neither impaired nor past
due. The credit period granted by a substantial shareholder was
30 days and the amount was aged less than 30 days. During
the year ended 31 December 2015, the amount had been fully
settled.

As at 31 December 2014, the remaining amount of
HK$240,050,000 due to a substantial shareholder represented
consideration payable to Ms. Lee Wong Wai Kuen for the
acquisition of Guang Kai Limited (“Guang Kai"”). The amount
was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. Details
of the acquisition are set out in Note 32. The amount had been
fully settled during the year ended 31 December 2015.

The amounts due to related companies represent trade balance
due to Jiangsu Chemical and LMIML. The amounts are
unsecured, interest-free, with average credit period of 30 days
and were aged less than 30 days.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2015 Annual Report

200 ER(RBEEAAREER

RFIR(4#)

R2014F 12 A31THENEERER
18518,0008 ;T JY FE S AN 2 R AT £
A% ENippon Paper Industries Co.,
Ltd. ([ BARA ] - HEREZ2015
F12A3MBIEFEEEREMAFR
MIZB B - 25T EAERLF
ERaS  c AEE—MHETHEEQF
FHEEH308 MZRENERD
M30H ° ®2014F 128318 » &%
EHEBBERERAH - TERRE
BT ZEEHA30R8 RZRAERR
DR30H - REIZE2015412 A 31
HIEFE  ZRBEE2HNE -

MR2014F 12 A31H 88 T~ %\
240,050,000 L Ty S AR 2 Al &£
ERRFTHEEBELIIEASKE I
BERAB(MRIN]) 2RE - ZER
BRERR RERAEREXREE
B WHEFBHNME32 c ZHRIE
EREZE2015F12831BtFESE
I -

e R E R R FRIATEMNTEHICT
REXEBEENESEH -  RFHR
TEEE - 28 FHEEH30AR
KRR P R308 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

20. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) RELATED 200 B () BEARREER
COMPANIES AND SUBSTANTIAL RMIA (&)
SHAREHOLDERS (conminueD)
The amounts due from (to) related companies and due to WHNEEEEEEEEEE
substantial shareholders that are denominated in currencies R FEM (1) BER &FEHEEHQ
other than the functional currency of the relevant group RFREHIIMAT :

entities are set out below:

2015 2014
20154 2014%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Amounts due from related JE s B i N B FRIAE
companies — HK$ %77: 1,153
Amounts due to related JE 1 B & A
companies — HK$ —/%75 (3,736)
Amounts due to substantial EREZREFRIE
shareholders — HK$ — BT (518)
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B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

21.

22.

112

MARGIN DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND

CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and

short term bank deposits with an original maturity of three

months or less.

Margin deposits represent deposits placed with financial

institutions to secure the Group’s margin accounts with these

financial institutions for trading commodity future contracts.

The margin deposits are non-interest bearing.

21.

RELFE
c

RITEBRNBCERAEEFTED
Re LRI B R3MEAHIAANE
HISRITIF AR -

R RITHEBRER

RESERDERARSREE T

Ko AERAEER ST S B

%2{%%%@%)573;????%%‘5?&
cRESTFRILEHNE

Margin deposits and bank balances and cash that are WHNEEEEEEEEEE
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency HNRFSERRRITEBRRSH
of the relevant group entities are set out below: T
2015 2014
2015%F 20144
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
HK$ AT 39,029 71,016
us$ ETT 897,502 537,938
Euro ("EUR") & ot (BT ) 115 74
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22. ERHEZRHEAMIRR
2015 2014
20155 20144
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
Trade and bills payables ENRE S REBRR 2,251,351 2,406,140
Construction fee payable FERT T2 382,721 427,925
Accruals ezt E 125,152 159,112
Receipt in advance TEYRIA 99,686 118,505
Other payables H b & <t 2008 184,058 150,783
3,042,968 3,262,465
Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2015 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (conTinuep) 22. ENESZRAEMBRR &)
notes: Bt 5
(i) The average credit period taken for trade purchases ranges from 30 to (i) EH5WE 2 FHREMAMA30E1208F
120 days. The following is an aged analysis of the trade and bills payables Fo TRANBEHBRIZHERHZE
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period. NESRERRRZERDN -
2015 2014
20155 20144
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
Aged: ARER ¢
Not exceeding 30 days TiBiB30H 837,045 933,141
31-60 days 31—60H 512,816 606,852
61-90 days 61—90H 468,990 473,231
91-120 days 91—120H 409,687 375,957
Over 120 days 12084 £ 22,813 16,959
2,251,351 2,406,140
(i) Trade and other payables that are denominated in currencies other than (i) WIELBBREBEERIEEKTENE
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out below: NESHREMBERAT :
2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
EUR BT 368,379 477,195
us$ Xt 1,802,867 1,458,63
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

23. BANK BORROWINGS 23. RITEE
The Group's bank borrowings, all of which are unsecured, AEBEZROTEBEE(2HHR/EER
comprised: )8

2015 2014

2015%F 20144

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FAT

Bank loans H|ITERK 13,571,484 12,526,485
Bank import loans RITEOER 690,895 334,304

14,262,379 12,860,789

The bank borrowings are repayable MITEENERAOT

as follows:
Within one year —E R 5,250,362 6,698,110
More than one year, but not Bl —FELRME

exceeding two years 2,179,155 996,979
More than two years, but not BEMTFREIRAT

exceeding five years 6,832,862 5,165,700

14,262,379 12,860,789

Less: Amount due within one year B AR ATREBAEERN

shown under current liabilities —FRNEIEFRIE (5,250,362) (6,698,110)
Amount due after one year —F & B EFIE 9,012,017 6,162,679
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

23. BANK BORROWINGS (conminueD)

notes:

(U]

(i)

(iii)

Included in the balance as at 31 December 2015 are fixed-rate bank
borrowings of HK$2,455,182,000 which carry interest at rates ranging
from 1.10% to 4.35% per annum.

All other bank borrowings carry variable interest rates ranging from Hong
Kong Interbanks Offered Rate (“HIBOR") plus 0.70% to HIBOR plus
2.48% or London Interbanks Offered Rate (“LIBOR") plus 0.60% to LIBOR
plus 0.80% (2014: ranging from HIBOR plus 1.10% to HIBOR plus 2.48%
or LIBOR plus 0.88% to LIBOR plus 2.30%) per annum.

The weighted average effective interest rate of the Group’s bank
borrowings are as follows:

23. BT EE#E)

M2015F 12 A3V Bz & BEE LR
1718 52,455,182,0008 7t + FEXH
1.10%%E4.35%

AEHMRTEREYAZE F8XA
EBRITRERENM0.70%ZE2.48% 3K
MBEEITRER B MN0.60%ZE0.80%
TE(2014F : FHEBITREFEM
1.10%%E2.48% : skifmFIRITRIZEF S
HN0.88%ZE2.30% %) ©

A RIS I 2 HI A R B
o

2014
20144

Fixed-rate borrowings

34 Al
U Cl

o of
puc

\
L

Variable-rate borrowings

2.42%

HK$2,455,195,000 (2014: HK$1,928,904,000) in bank borrowings of
HK$5,250,362,000 (2014: HK$6,698,110,000) which are repayable
within one year contain repayable on demand clauses.

The Group's bank borrowings that are denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out

(if)

(iii)

— & N B # R 17 f§ B 5,250,362,000
#7C (20144 : 6,698,110,0007% 7T )
#h v 2,455,195,0008 7T (20144 -
1,928,904,0008 L) EEERKEBERZ

K o

VIAEBEERRNEEEHELAR
KERITEENT

below:
2015 2014
20155 20144
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
us$ ES 965,612 1,029,264
HK$ Fom 200,000 636,449
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

24. STEEMIA

2015
20155
HK$'000
THET
Derivative financial assets TESREE
- net settlement - FHERK
Foreign currency forward contracts HNESRERA 4D
(note i) (M &Ei)
Agricultural commodity future contracts EXRRBEAY
(note i) o)
Derivative financial liabilities fTEemEs
- net settlement - FERK
Foreign currency forward contracts I R B A Y
(note i) (P& 6,325
Agricultural commodity future contracts EXRRBEAY
(note ii) (B 3Eii) 8,499

14,824
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2014
20144
HK$'000
FET

45

45

22,775

22,775
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

24.

notes:
(i) Foreign currency forward contracts

Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts outstanding as at
31 December 2015 are as follows:

Notional amount

Lo ] BHER

TTEEMIA®)

G

(i)

Currency conversion

SEHEY

M2015F 12 A3MBRTHEINEEHRE
N2 EBIEFHRMAT -

10 contracts to buy EUR 28,838,745 in total

1017 & 4L 528,838, 745E 7T

4 contracts to buy EUR 10,300,000 in total

4 A% E10,300,0008 7T

15 contracts to buy US$88,513,065 in total

1513 & #)£ E88,513,065% T

3 contracts to buy Renminbi (“RMB") 141,000,000 in total
3P A KL E 141,000,000 A REE ([ AREE )

1 contract to buy RMB24,000,000 in total

119 & 435 24,000,000 AR

Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts outstanding as at
31 December 2014 are as follows:

Notional amount

Lo ] BHER

Currency conversion

EUR 1 to HK$8.4730-8.6978
18T 58.4730%8.6978%8 T
EUR 1 to US$1.1138-1.1587
1L 1.1138%1.15873% 5T
US$1 to HK$7.7469-7.7494
1ET0H7.7469%7.74947 T
US$1 to RMB6.5944-6.6031
1%£7056.5944%6.6031 AREE
RMB1 to HK$1.1730
TAREER1.17308T

MR2014F 12 A3MBRTHEINEERE
N2 EBIERMAT -

15 contracts to buy EUR57,603,894 in total
150 & #)3HE57,603,894B T

3 contracts to buy US$7,224,003 in total
3D E KL ET,224,003% 7T

The fair values of the above derivative financial instruments were
calculated using discounted cash flow analysis based on the applicable
forward foreign exchange rates.
(ii) Agricultural commodity future contracts (net settlement)
The Group enters into corn starch future contacts in order to manage its
exposure to the price risk of corn starch inventories. These contracts are
actively traded in an active market and are measured at fair values based

on unadjusted quoted price at the end of the reporting period, with gain
or loss recognised directly in profit or loss.

Major terms of the agricultural commodity future contracts outstanding
at the end of the reporting period are set out below:

EUR1: HK$9.5770-10.5

18T 9.5770210.5%8 7T
US$1: HK$7.7491-7.7521
13ELHT7.749127.752178 T

(ii)

BXERAR AR 2015 F3R]

ERTESRTAZ AAETNRIEER
EHNBEES T 2HRRE R B

o

= o

BEXBRALKEN(FERR)

AEEFTUERBNREAONEERE
KEWEFEZERRER - LEAHIR
EBRMISHER P RRBERRALR
BIREZANEFE  BERERE

B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 24. THEERIA %)
(CONTINUED)
notes: (Continued) Mzt : ()
(i)  Agricultural commodity future contracts (net settlement) (Continued) (i) RBREBFRHESHCFEIR (&)
31 December 2015 2015%12A31H
Standard
Contract price trading unit Total unit Maturity date
AHER BEXZEN BEMN FHA
Corn starch future contracts:
EARABHBESL
Buying at prices ranging from 10 tonnes 6,257 From 16 May 2016 to 14 September 2016
RMB1,865 to RMB2,194 per ton 1018 20165316 H%£201659A14H

BAEIKENE,865 ARKEE2, 194 AR

25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 25 EEHIEBEE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised TRAFTZEBREEREBEER
and movement thereon during the current and prior year: KEERLEFEZET -

Undistributed

earnings

Accelerated of the PRC
tax subsidiaries

depreciation G B
I B IE AR Z Total
FE KoOBERR &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FHET
At 1 January 2014 20141 /31H 637,201 4,145 641,346
Charge to profit or loss FFAE&E 138,468 — 138,468
At 31 December 2014 2014912 831H 775,669 4,145 779,814
Charge to profit or loss FFAEE 122,158 — 122,158
At 31 December 2015 2015412 A831H 897,827 4,145 901,972
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (conTinuep)

notes:

(U]

(i)

(iif)

At 31 December 2015, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately
HK$116,000,000 (2014: HK$98,000,000) available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
such losses for both years due to unpredictability of future profit streams.
As at 31 December 2015, tax losses of approximately HK$14,626,000
(2014: HK$12,958,000) from the PRC subsidiaries will expire at various
dates up to and including 2020 (2014: 2019).

According to the EIT Law, dividend paid to foreign investors out of profit
earned by entities established in the PRC from 1 January 2008 onwards is
subject to withholding tax at 10%. For investors incorporated in Hong
Kong and holding at least 25% of equity interest in a PRC company, a
preferential rate of 5% can be applied. The Group has not recognised
deferred tax liability in respect of the relevant undistributed profits of
some of its PRC subsidiaries because the directors believe that the
Company is able to control the timing of the distribution by its subsidiaries
such that no withholding tax will be payable in the foreseeable future. As
at the end of the reporting period, the deferred tax liabilities in relation to
the undistributed profits of the PRC subsidiaries for which deferred tax
liabilities have not been recognised were approximately HK$351 million
(2014: approximately HK$294 million).

The tax rates of certain subsidiaries were changed when these subsidiaries
became entitled to concessionary tax rates pursuant to relevant incentive
tax rules as detailed in note 8.

25.

EREBERE ()

f
i)

(if)

(iii)

BXERAR AR 2015 F3R]

R2015F12A31H » "EBEBHKXH
REATAEREMARRTZHEEB
18 # /4 116,000,000 % 7T (2014 F :
98,000,000/ 7T ) ° AR ESETERT KRR
BRIAE - WAEFE AR ZFEIERE
RABELERIBEE - R2015412 A31
A #IEEIE414,626,000/8 (2014
4 12,958,000 7T ) 2k 8 R EIFT B
RSN EE W B3E20204F (20144 -
20194 ) 2 Z AR B EARIH -

REBECEMEHIE - B2008F1H1H
HB o R BERA B AFFR
ERAIRE FEIMEES - BRXBNHR
10% ° BBFMAZERFBRARRFE
FL25%ERNIGEE  BREERE
5% o AR EFAREANA B 05 6 Z K
BARETIRMN ZER - BRI RAE
RAGHREIND - WAEEEFEF
B B /BB A R AR B R 0 B B I HE RIS B
HEE - NBREPR RERNE AR
RAOWRFABMAERNELTHIEA
BEHE3ISTEBIT(20144 - £92.9418
BT .

ETHBRARZHERERRBREBERE

EBEBRRZAEENERETE  FEH
T EES o
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

26.

120

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS
Defined contribution scheme

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF scheme are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control
of trustees. The Group contributes monthly the lower of
HK$1,500 (HK$1,250 from 1 January 2014 to 31 May 2014) or
5% of the relevant monthly payroll costs to the MPF Scheme,

which contribution is matched by employees.

The only obligation of the Group with respect of MPF Scheme is
to make the required contribution payable on the future years.

The employees employed in the PRC subsidiaries are members
of the state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by
the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit

scheme is to make the specified contributions.

26.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. B
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
EBERYE &5
Note HK$'000
Fi3E TiEx
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each 201451818 » 2014F
at 1 January 2014, 31 December 2014 12A318K%2015%
and 31 December 2015 12A3188/0.0258 T
M BB IR 8,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRER
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each R2014F1 818
at 1 January 2014 Fik0.0258 L8 E @R 4,696,083,000 117,402
Share repurchased and cancelled B BB Rt 88 (i) (26,083,000) (652)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each R2014%E12A31H
at 31 December 2014 FAR0.025B LA E AR 4,670,000,000 116,750
Shares repurchased and cancelled AT (i) (91,000,000) (2,275)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each 20154128318
at 31 December 2015 BR0.025B LA LR 4,579,000,000 114,475
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

27. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Note:

(U]

122

27. BA& (&)

BT
The Company repurchased its own shares through the Stock Exchange as (i) RABRBERIEEARS 2 RHMAT :
follows:
2015 2015%F
Aggregate
No. of ordinary consideration
shares of Price paid per share paid (including
HK$0.025 each BRI FERE expenses)
Month of E1%0.025%8 T Highest Lowest ArEARE
repurchases BE A% ZEBER BE RIK (BfEH)
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
BT BT FHET
March 2015 2015437 18,700,000 3.79 69,542
April 2015 2015547 1,300,000 3.82 5,051
June 2015 201546 A 10,440,000 4.96 51,135
July 2015 2015%7A 33,360,000 5.05 163,661
August 2015 20154873 19,200,000 4.87 89,084
September 2015 2015497 6,500,000 4.42 26,509
December 2015 2015412 A 1,500,000 4.24 6,355
91,000,000 411,337
2014 2014%
Aggregate
No. of ordinary consideration
shares of Price paid per share paid (including
HK$0.025 each BRI AHER expenses)
Fh0.025% T Highest Lowest AFTERRE
Month of repurchases  B&E[E A1p 2 BB &= KK (2E®)
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
BT BT FET
March 2014 2014437 9,743,000 4.44 4.15 42,125
April 2014 2014547 6,340,000 4.68 4.28 28,295
June 2014 201446 A 4,898,000 4.18 3.89 19,869
November 2014 20144117 5,102,000 4.08 4.06 20,859
26,083,000 111,148

The above shares were subsequently cancelled.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

28. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28. EXFEERE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy

remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
include the bank borrowings and equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company, comprising issued share capital and

various reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

AEBERHEEANERAEEDN
ERUFELEEY  WEBKE
BEHEERL I RERTE ARRH
RimEH o AEBEMNBERBRER
HEEF—H-

AEENERAGEBRRBER  EF
BRETEEARARAEDRFA
AEEEZ(BREBTRARZIA
) -

ARBEETHRTENERE - 1F
BEEHN D EEHEEERN
RARAREZEBEABRAORER
REEENEZ  AKESBBK
MR ~ BT BB A
BOHEXERRETEEERE
AEERE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 29. e@MIT A
(i) Categories of financial instruments (i) £mMITEFEH
2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Financial assets SREE
Fair value through profit or loss — BARBFAER—
derivative financial instruments MESRIE 1,532 45
Loans and receivables (including cash B 3% % fE U 5718
and cash equivalents) (PEReABEEEY) 6,830,433 7,348,876
Financial liabilities sHas
Fair value through profit or loss — BARERABE—
derivative financial instruments MESHIE 14,824 22,775
Amortised cost 55 AR A 17,084,361 16,168,605

(ii)

124

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group's major financial instruments include a loan to
a joint venture, trade and other receivables, amounts due
from (to) related companies, derivative financial
instruments, margin deposits, bank balances and cash,
trade and other payables, amounts due to substantial
shareholders and bank borrowings. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and
commodity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
Management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a

timely and effective manner.
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk

(a)

Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency transactions, which
expose the Group to market risk arising from
changes in foreign exchange rates. In order to
mitigate the foreign currency risk, foreign currency
forward contracts are entered into by the Group for
certain material foreign currency transactions.
Management monitors other foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider the use of

hedging instruments when the need arises.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s significant
monetary assets and monetary liabilities, excluding
intercompany balances and derivative financial
instruments, that are denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the relevant

group entities at the reporting dates are as follows:

Monetary assets (note):

29. EMI B #)

(ii)

HK$
us$
EUR

M o
S gl

al

BXERAR AR 2015 F3R]

BREREERNREE

(&)

mi5
(a)

Gy
Bk

AEBHFHEINERS <
AR ER B R AR SN [ R A
FolENTHERR - 87
BRSNS RS - A E L
ETERINEZHET LI
BEHAR - EEERE
DB RAEMIMNERRR - A
ERRMEBRERE T
Ao

REBRHwE B I IEAE
HEEERYEEEE

JEBEMEEREKS
BE(RIRAFRRITE
ST AR MEEE
m

EBEERE) :

2015 2014
20155 20144
HK$'000 HK$'000

TFHET FHET
280,895 347,664
929,306 714,523
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED) 29. TR T A (#)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER
policies (Continued) (4&)
Market risk (Continued) miZRER (&)
(a)  Currency risk (Continued) (a) E®REpR(E)
Monetary liabilities (note): BEaE )
2015 2014
2015%F 2014%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FH&ET
HK$ BT 200,000 641,010
us$ ET 2,768,479 2,487,900
EUR BT 368,379 477,195
note: The above amounts exclude HK$/US$ amounts where the MisE : Ll ZEARBIEHRBEER
functional currency of the relevant group entities is US$/ BEENEEE AET,/B
HK$ because HK$ is pegged to the US$, as a result of THBTT,/ ETLE |
which the exchange exposure is not significant. RETEETTES - At

I 48 5 RO SR -
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinueD) 29. E@IT B (&)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER
policies (Continued) (4&)
Market risk (Continued) MR (&)
(a)  Currency risk (Continued) (a) EMmEpF(E)
In addition, intercompany balances denominated in AN - AINEEEHE 2 ED
foreign currencies are as follows: NEEREHRINT -

2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$"000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Assets BE
us$ e 64,040 913,914
HK$ BT 89,190 29,896
RMB AREE 288,485 —
EUR BT 98,294 —
Liabilities =L
us$ ETT 631,760 913,914
HK$ BT 601,767 26,089
RMB ARKE 1,454,909 —
EUR BT 98,294 —
Sensitivity analysis BRE DT
The Group is primarily exposed to the fluctuation of AEBEZEEEBUITHB

EUR against HK$, and HK$ and US$ against RMB. T MBTRETHAR
BRBTE -
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i)

29. TMT R (#)
MBEREERNWREE

policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(a)

128
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Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The following tables detail the Group's sensitivity to
a 5% (2014: 5%) increase and decrease in the
functional currency of the relevant group entities
against the relevant foreign currencies to the extent
that the exposures have not been hedged. 5%
(2014: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items (including
intercompany balances denominated in foreign
currencies) and adjusts their translation or fair value
in the case of the derivative financial instruments at
the year ended for a 5% change in foreign currency
rates. On this basis, there will be an increase/
decrease in post-tax profit and equity where the
functional currency of the relevant group entities
strengthens against the foreign currencies by 5%,
and vice versa.

Decrease (increase)

(%)

EE1EAE )

(a) E¥ER(E)
BRE DM (&)
TR FE AN ER 8 3 S

RRBEIERT  HEEE
EEBZIEERKLE
HEEINE AR T 5%
(20144 : 5% ) By B
J€ 5% (20145 : 5%)
BEHANRETEEEASE
RN L B B R ) A R
EhtE  BEEEING
EENASEREEEED
Rl - IRESITR
BIEUNIINETERNKE
NE.IEE (BRENAINE
FEEZANIBAFER)
THREERFAERREKRE
HARE(WMAEITES R
TE) - DA BRSNS [E =
B95% & 8 o 7 Ity B
T ENHEEEERE D
BEEBHINEFAES% ¢
iR F R GG M,
WA RZ IR o

Increase (decrease)

in post-tax profit in equity
HEBFRED(EM) REREMCORD)

2015 2014 2015 2014
201545 20144 20155 20144
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHERT FHET TEx FHT

HK$ AT (3.377)
us$ ETT 114,300
RMB AR 72,564
EUR BT 18,293

2015 Annual Report
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

No sensitivity analysis for derivative financial
instruments has been presented as the directors
consider the risk is insignificant for both years.

Interest rate risk

The Group’'s bank balances carry floating-rate of
interests and have exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rates. However, the Group
considers that the bank balances are within short
maturity period, and the fluctuation in interest rate
and the cash flow interest rate risk arising from

bank balances are insignificant.

The Group'’s fair value and cash flow interest risks
mainly relate to fixed and variable rates borrowings
respectively. The Group has not entered into any
interest rate hedging contracts, but considers that
the interest rate of bank borrowings is relatively
stable and so no interest rate swap was used to
hedge the exposure to interest rate risk in current
year. The management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.

29. EMI B #)

(i) BERREEBNREE
(4%&)

EE1EAE )

(a) EEER(#E)
FRE DM (E)
TTESMIAZBRESD
MIEELY  DESRE
H M EFE 2z BBRET
JRIE °

(b) FEE
REBIBITHRTIES
HRIRITHS R R KE -
RITHEBA XIS REF
@b o Al - REER
REZIRITEE R TR BN B
Hy - BCSRITEER SRR
MERE RBERENE
[E B 18 2 3

AEBZARBERRER
ENERREZESRIHETE
BRZEEERH K&
B 0 48 5T 37 A {R] FI K 4 R
EH  ERABRITEED
FEBERBE - TUAER
FEARE AT R B+
*'JKJ—W"% c B BN

ERiEEREERRS
EEHPERNNFEE
B o
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

130

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(b)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the end of the reporting
period. For variable-rate bank borrowings, to the
extent that they were not hedged by effective
instruments, the analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of liability outstanding at the end of the
reporting period was outstanding for the whole
year. A 50 basis points increase or decrease in
interest rate is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the

reasonably possible change in interest rates.

For bank borrowings at variable-rate of
HK$11,807,197,000 (2014: HK$12,860,789,000),
if interest rate had been 50 basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2015 after taking into account the
capitalisation of borrowing costs using the
capitalisation rate of 3.3% (2014: 3.5%) would
decrease/increase by HK$26,783,000 (2014:
decrease/increase by HK$33,052,000).

29. EMI B #)

(ii)
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD) 29. @I A (#)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BEEBEEEOIRBEEK

policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(c)  Commodity price risk
At 31 December 2015, the Group was exposed to
commodity price risk through agricultural
commodity future contracts.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is exposed to the fluctuation of
commodity price risk of agricultural commodity
future contracts at the end of reporting period. If
the commodity price of agricultural commodity
future contracts had been 5% higher/lower, the
Group's post-tax profit for the year would increase/
decrease by HK$5,204,000 (2014 Nil).

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debt
at the end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In making such assessments, the Group
considers the value of collateral held and expected future
cash flows from the assets. In this regard, the directors
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

(#)

miZRER (&)

(c) EmEKER
M20154128318 » &
EEERREBLEES
%’U%x%uu{gﬁﬂﬁfﬂ °

BRRED T
RBERR - NEBEAZ
REBMBEEH A

B1& /)@Jﬂfﬂw - BB
HmEEHzZERER
EASTHS% c ANER
RNEEFEZRERF G E
hn,/ 425,204,000 7T
(2014%F « &) -

FER K
M2015%F 128318 A&EE
A F A RERBITEEMER

MBRANESEERRES
FAMBRAREINNSZED
BREREENREE -

SEEREEERR  AKHE
EEERZE-HABEER
ERE  FEEEHUREME
TR - AR ERIER
REERAETTE UL AR H
EEEERBEHURENEE
AEHZ AW EESEE - LR
FEE W O & B HE R R SRUE
BE - EELFEE  A&H
SEEMAFEM M2 EENRZ
EEERHPARKRASRE - 5t
L EFZRARAEEZEER
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

132

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the

counterparties are banks with good reputation.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers,
spread across diverse industries and geographical areas.
Accordingly, the Group’s concentration of credit risk is

considered minimal.

In addition to the credit risk on trade debts, the Group is
also exposed to concentration on credit risk on its loan to
a joint venture. Because the Group’s involvement in the
management of joint venture, the Group is in a position
to monitor their financial performance and would take
timely actions to safeguard its assets and/or to minimise
its losses. Accordingly, management believes that the
Group's exposure to the credit risk associated with loan

to joint venture is low.

29. EMI B #)

(ii)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

29. EMT A &)
FHRAREE R M REEK

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (ii)

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by management to finance the
Group’'s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The following tables detail the Group's remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based on
the agreed repayment terms. For non-derivative financial
liabilities, the tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates. The tables include both interest and
principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are
floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the following tables detail the Group’s
liquidity analysis for its derivative financial instruments.
The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted contractual net cash flows on derivative
instruments that settle on a net basis. When the amount
payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been
determined by reference to the projected interest rates as
illustrated by the yield curves existing at the end of the
reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the Group’s
derivative financial instruments are prepared based on
the contractual maturities as the management consider
that the contractual maturities are essential for an
understanding of the timing of the cash flows of
derivatives.

EGERER AR 2015 F£3R
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueD) 29. TR T A (#)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) MBEREERNREE
policies (Continued) (4&)
L . . < Eh N
Liquidity risk (Continued) mEBE R (F)
P 25 Eh 2
Liquidity tables RBE L&
Weighted Repayable Carrying
average  ondemand Total amount at
effective  orless than 3 months undiscounted 31 December
interest rate 1month  1-3 months to 1year cash flows 2015
KB 20155
ERAE EEREXD ReRE 12A318
ik S3=) 4 SR1{EA 1238 3EAE1E 1255 EH ZEHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TET TER TET TET
31 December 2015 2015%12A31A
Non-derivative financial 3$i£ & BEAE
liabilities
Trade and other payables BN Z 5 L i8R 1 1,403,824 981,806 432,500 2,818,130 2,818,130
Amounts due torelated  FEFBJE 2 B FUR
companies 3,852 3,852 3,852
Bank borrowings RITEE
- variable-rate -%8 2,586,192 214,358 9,557,626 12,358,176 11,807,197
- fixed-rate -E8 1,620,026 848,818 — 2,468,844 2,455,182
5,613,894 981,806 1,495,676 9,557,626 17,649,002 17,084,361
Derivatives fTETR
- net settlement - FERW
Foreign exchange forward ~ SMERHIA4)
contracts
Agricultural ommodity  REERHEAN
future contracts
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B B R AR M A ()
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueD) 29. TR T A (#)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) MBEREERNREE
policies (Continued) (#)
Liquidity risk (Continued) mENAE SRR ()
Liquidity tables (Continued) HBEE K ()

Weighted Repayable Carrying
average on demand Total amount at
effective or less than 3 months undiscounted 31 December

interest rate 1 month 1-3 months to 1 year 1-5 years cash flows 2014
i) 2014%
ERFE  EERERS Beng 128318
MEFHH DR1E R 1238 3f@RE1E 125 At A
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Aot FHT FET FHET FhT FHT FET
31 December 2014 20145128318
Non-derivative financial #¥{T4¢REE
liabilities
Trade and other payables BN Z 5 L i8R 1 — 1,695,358 998,907 369,247 — 3,063,512 3,063,512
Amounts due to substantial FEf+ = B 78
shareholders — 240,568 — — — 240,568 240,568
Amountdue to arelated  FEMBAE N AR
company — 3,736 — — — 3,736 3,736
Bank borrowings RITEE
- variable-rate -%28 242 3,295,008 738,288 2,875,542 6,582,265 13,491,103 12,860,789

5,234,670 1,737,195 3,244,789 6,582,265 16,798,919 16,168,605

Derivatives fTETR
- net settlement -BERN
Foreign exchange forward ~ 9MEREIA 4)
contracts — 449 14,190 8,136 — 22,775 22,775
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)
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29. EMI B #)

(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) MBEREERNREE
policies (Continued) (%&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) mENE e Rk (&)
Liquidity tables (Continued) HBEERK(E)
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause iy 75 8 22 SR8 SRR AR 2 SR AT
are included in the “repayable on demand or less than 1 f& &% B8 B 2 4 EF A
month” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at [ERFERKDRIEAIZ
31 December 2015 and 2014, the aggregate HIM o 20154 Kk 2014 %
undiscounted principal amounts and carrying amounts of 12A318  ZFERITERZ
these bank loans amounted to HK$2,455,195,000 and AFBRAERERHELED
HK$1,928,904,000 respectively. Taking into account the Al % 2,455,195,000 /& 7T &
Group's financial position, the directors do not believe 1,928,904,000/ 7T ° & /& %I
that it is probable that the banks will exercise their AREZHBMRR  EEM
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. & S|RIT A KRATBETERR
The directors believe that such bank loans will be repaid # BRAEENFENR - &
after the reporting date in accordance with the following FHE RFRITEEFRA
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan HwE A2 RIREE RGP
agreements: BT ERRPEENAT :
Bank borrowings subject to repayment on demand clause Pl 755 1 22 SR FRARSR 2 SR 1T
based on scheduled repayments: BERARTENRS
Weighted
average Total
effective Less than 3 months undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month 1-3 months to 1 year cash flows amount
BERAR 3f8A AR
T SMMER 123188 215 ReREsst SREE
% HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
Bt TET TET TERT TERT TERT
Asat 31 December 2015 %2015412 8318 1.87 1,947,440 363,097 152,067 2,462,604 2,455,195
Asat 31 December 2014 720144125310 205 1,753,743 106,957 73,199 1,933,899 1,928,904
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

8,499,000/ 7T

BXGERARAT

(iii) Fair value (iii) 2RE
Fair value measurements recognised in the RUBRARERZ AR EET
statement of financial position 2
This note provides information about how the Group AT REAEEBOFNEE T
determines fair values of various financial assets and AemEEReRBEAAE
financial liabilities. ZER o
Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial rEEBRELEMEERSREA
liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each BERERERRZA L BER
reporting period. The following table gives information 2o TRREHBNAEEZES
about how the fair values of these financial assets and MEEREREBEARENE
financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the RLCEGFAFRARMERZ
valuation technique(s) and inputs used). KI5 °
Fair value as at
Financial assets/ 31 December 2015  Fair value Valuation techniques
financial liabilities A2015512H831H hierarchy and key inputs
SHEE SREE ZRARE ARERF REFRNREERE
Foreign currency forward contracts  Assets — Level 2 Future discounted cash flows
classified as derivative financial HK$837,000 FE2H are estimated based on the
instruments in the consolidated  Liabilities — applicable forward foreign
statement of financial position HK$6,325,000 exchange rates
INERHIA XN E IR BE— AT ME D ERE
DER/TESRIA 837,000/ 7T RINEEHEERE
afE—
6,325,000/ 7T
Agricultural commodity future Assets — Level 1 Quoted bid commodity
contracts classified as derivative HK$695,000 F1 future prices on the Dalian
financial instruments in the Liabilities — Commodity Exchange
consolidated statement of HK$8,499,000 RREERR S FRIZEMRE
financial position BE— ZEmEEER
EERmBAREHONGETBIR 69500078 7T
RESERTESMTIA aE-
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fRE B AR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

29. EMI B #)

(iii) Fair value (Continued) (iii) 2REE)
Fair value measurements recognised in the RUBRARERZ AR EET
statement of financial position (Continued) =(#&)
Fair value as at
Financial assets/ 31 December 2014 Fair value Valuation techniques
financial liabilities 201412 H31H hierarchy and key inputs
CRMEE eRMBEE ZRARME ARrERR HESTAREZKE
Foreign currency forward contracts Assets — Level 2 Future discounted cash flows
classified as derivative financial HK$45,000 FE2M are estimated based on the
instruments in the consolidated  Liabilities — applicable forward foreign
statement of financial position HK$22,775,000 exchange rates
INERERE HRERa ISR R BE— RRITIRIR B ME I ERE
DERITEERIA 45,0007 7T RINEEHEERE
afE-
22,775,000 7T
The directors consider the carrying amounts of financial EERPREEMBREESR
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost EERCRBEREHENAZ
in the consolidated financial statements approximate to WMo BREBEREERARE -
their fair values.
(iv) Financial assets and financial liabilities (iv) S8 IHTEFHELEE

subject to offsetting, enforceable master
netting agreements and similar
agreements

The disclosures set out in the tables below include
financial assets and financial liabilities that are subject to
an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar
agreement that covers similar financial instruments,
irrespective of whether they are offset in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position.
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(iv) Financial assets and financial liabilities
subject to offsetting, enforceable master
netting agreements and similar
agreements (Continued)

Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable

master netting arrangements and similar

agreements

As at 31 December 2015

Gross amounts
of recognised
financial assets
Description Bz BEAR
HK$'000
TARL
Bank balances it 460
Margin deposits RELHER 10,391
Derivative fEeBEE
financial assets
-Foreigncurrency  —SMEREIAH
forward contracts
- Agricultural -ERERHE
commodity futre &%)
contracts

Gross amount
of recognised
financial
liabilities

set off in the
consolidated
statement of
financial
position
REE
BHRRR
Hitv ekl
tRERER
HK$'000
TiEx

29. EMI B #)

(iv) F8#E  THTRFEEE
ZHREMUBRET 228

Net amounts
of financial
assets
[ENE

in the
consolidated
statement of
financial
position
REE
BHRRR
22
CREETE
HK$'000
TiEx

460

10,391

BXERAR AR 2015 F3R]

EEREBMAE#E

P8 AIRITRFREER
BRBUmERET 2 EREE

M2015%12H31H

Related amounts not set off
in the consolidated statement
of financial position
DERAGEHERRE
HEvERLE
Cash collateral
received
ghRE
gl

Financial
instruments
fTESRMIA
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT

Net
amount
R
HK$'000
TR
460
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fRE B AR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED) 29. eMIT A (#)

(iv) Financial assets and financial liabilities (iv) S8 IHTEFELEE
subject to offsetting, enforceable master ZHRELHRET 2/
netting agreements and similar EERSREEE
agreements (Continued)

Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable Y AIRMITRFREER
master netting arrangements and similar ERBEUHZET 22MAR
agreements
As at 31 December 2015 712015%12H31H
Net amounts
Gross amount of financial
of recognised liabilities
financial assets presented
set off in the inthe  Related amounts not set off
consolidated  consolidated in the consolidated statement
statementof  statement of of financial position
Gross amounts financial financial SERGEBRERAR
of recognised position position HEvERLE
financial i) RG& Cash collateral
liabilities ~ BHE#RZ  HERRE Financial received Net
BRASH HECERER 2R2  instruments BhES amount
Description BE BfEAE CREESE SRAEFE MEeRIA g FE

HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER

Derivative TEEBAE
financial liabilities
-Foreigncurrency  —SMEREIAL

forward contracts
- Agricultural -ERERHE
commodity future &%)
contracts (695)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueD) 29. TR T A (#)

(iv) Financial assets and financial liabilities (iv) 1585 - ATETRFREEE
subject to offsetting, enforceable master ZHRELHRET 2/
netting agreements and similar EERSREEE
agreements (Continued)

Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable Y AIRMITRFREER
master netting arrangements and similar RBEUHZBET 22mEE
agreements

As at 31 December 2014 "20145F12H31H

(Gross amount Net amounts

of recognised of financial
financial assets
liabilities presented
set off in the inthe  Related amounts not st off
consolidated consolidated i the consolidated statement
statementof  statement of of financial position
financial financial TENFAIRRRE
Gross amounts position position Y EBLE
of recognised oty ity Cash collateral
financial assets BIIR BIBMAR Finandial received Net
BRRERH  HE/EED Evd instruments BlRe amount
Description w2 BEE CRAREE SRAETE  (TERRIA Efm w8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAT TAL T TAL TAL
Bank balances BiTtae 226 - 226 - - 226
Derivative TELBAE
financial assets
-Foreigncurrency  —SMEREIAL
forward contracts 45 — 45 — — 45
Total At 27 - m - - 2
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED) 29. TR T A (#)

(iv) Financial assets and financial liabilities (iv) S8 IHTEFELEE
subject to offsetting, enforceable master ZHRELHRET 2/
netting agreements and similar EERSREEE
agreements (Continued)

Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable Y AIRMITRFREER
master netting arrangements and similar ERBEUHZET 22MAR
agreements
As at 31 December 2014 "20145F12H31H
Net amounts
Gross amount of financial
of recognised liabilities
financial assets presented
set off in the inthe  Related amounts not set off
consolidated ~ consolidated i the consolidated statement
statementof  statement of of financial position
financial financial TENTABBIRAR
Gross amounts position position HEvEBLE
of recognised oty ity Cash collateral
financial liabilities BBMRRR HEMRRR Financial received Net
ERARRE  HHZERR v instruments BlBe amount
Description w2 fEEE CREEDE SRARTE TERRIA Efm w8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TERL TEL TR TEL TERL TR

Derivative iTeemaE
financial liabilities
-Foreigncurrency  —SMEREIAL
forward contracts (22,775) - (22,775) — - (22,775)
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

30. OPERATING LEASES 30. REHEN
The Group as lessee SEEREMEA

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases in respect of land and buildings,

which fall due as follows:

RE|BER - NERERE A B
M REFREEHEONBEREN
W& ERSOT

Within one year —F A
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EERFA
Over five years BB hF

2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
5,658 2,807
5,406 —

92 —
11,156 2,807

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for lands and certain of its office properties. For
leasehold lands, leases are negotiated for terms ranged from
one year to four years with fixed rentals. For office properties,
leases are negotiated for terms ranged from one year to six
years with fixed rentals.

The Group as lessor

During the year ended 31 December 2015, rental income in
respect of office spaces and certain shops and staff quarters in
the PRC was HK$3,205,000 (2014: HK$1,919,000) and
HK$2,283,000 (2014: HK$314,000), respectively. Leases are

within one to three years.

REMeEASER T REET
WMAEMEENWES -HELH
REBENE -—FEUF - M
ETE - RMAEYELERENA
—FERF HAESIE -

SEEREBEA

REZE2015F12A31BILFE - &
BMrBEARAERETEAMET
BEMESKAD 5 A3,205,000
It (20144 : 1,919,0008 ) &
2,283,000/ 7T (20144 : 314,000
BIr) c M ARBH—E=FR -
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

30. OPERATING LEASES (continueD) 30. KEMY(#)
The Group as lessor (Continued) SEERAEBEAE)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted ERBREHKR  AEBEHBELE
with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments: AIRNBREMNNKERESR

2015 2014

20154 20144

HK$’000 HK$'000

TRT FET

Within one year —F R 5,108 2,166
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EERFER 6,624 4,060

11,732 6,226

31. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 31. BEARERE

2015 2014
201545 20144
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Capital expenditures contracted for FEFTRERNEGE M EREFR
but not provided in the consolidated ~ # A THEENEAH X ¢
financial statements in respect of
acquisition of:

- property, plant and equipment o E RN 2,568,754 1,894,873
—land use rights — T fE A 180,981 135,476

2,749,735 2,030,349

144 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2015 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

32. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 32. WBEERAEE
On 11 November 2014, the Group entered into a sale and M2014FE 11 B11 B » KREBBEK
purchase agreement with two substantial shareholders of the NAIMMEEREET —DEEW
Company to acquire the entire issued capital and shareholder’s & Aa 3 €K E404,200,000
loan of Guang Kai at an aggregate cash consideration of BT E R 2D BITIRA R
HK$404,200,000. The principal assets of Guang Kai and its REH - AN REMBRARZEE
subsidiaries are the tissue paper manufacturing plant and BERBEREERE M&EH - 1
equipment. At the time when the Group obtain control over AEBEMBGHIN 2 IEHIER - £E
Guang Kai, the production lines were at installation stage. The BELEMER - LB EUKEE
acquisition has been accounted for as an acquisition of assets ERBEANE -
and liabilities.
The consolidated net assets acquired was summarised as Fri g ima FEEMMMT -
follows:
2014
20144
HK$'000
FHT
Net assets acquired: WHEFEE -
Deposit paid for acquisition of BB (AR
land use rights FritaT & 12,500
Plant and equipment = R 354,713
Inventories FE 6,225
Other receivables JAEE M5 EL 4t BR 3K 19,107
Bank balances and cash RITHEBERE 56,442
Trade and other payables JERTE 5 Rk H MR (12,391)
Bank import loans RITHAOBERK (26,396)
Total consideration satisfied by cash AEHIBERE 410,200
Net cash outflow arising on the acquisition of 7% 38 It & [ B 2 =] 3| FL &Y
assets and liabilities through acquisition of WEEERBBEESER
subsidiaries:
Cash consideration paid BEMIRENRE 164,150
Less: bank balances and cash acquired W B RITERRIRS (50,442)
113,708
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32.

33.

146

ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2014, HK$240,050,000 of the
consideration was not yet settled and was included in amounts
due to substantial shareholders in the consolidated statement
of financial position. As at 31 December 2015, the

consideration was fully settled.

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 December 2014
was HK$7,298,000 attributable to the tissue paper
manufacturing business generated by Guang Kai. Revenue for
the year included HK$74,413,000 generated by Guang Kai.
Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2014, total
group revenue for the year would have been the same and
profit for the year would have been decreased by
HK$10,791,000. The directors of the Company considered
these ‘pro-forma’ numbers to represent an approximate
measure of the performance of the combined group on an
annualised basis and to provide a reference point for
comparison in future periods.

NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group's acquisition
of property, plant and equipment was settled through transfer
of deposits paid in the prior years to the extent of
HK$45,204,000 (2014: HK$115,964,000).

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group’s acquisition
of assets and liabilities was settled through current account
with substantial shareholders to the extent of
HK$240,050,000.

32.

33.
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2014 £ 12 A 31 B CRFE]
240,050,000 8 TR ENRZ T R
ERETHRAMBRARAENSE
ZRERIEF o B20159F 12 A 31
B REEZ2IMHE -

HE2014F12A31HIEFEAEMNE
FEREMMEERRE 77,298,000
BILIBEKAINEE - FREAREE
74,413,000 TR X I EE - BR&
BB B M2014F 1 A1HER - FE
EEBWRAKTERFEARBT KR
4>10,791,0008 7T - R ARIEER
RUEEBEHTRFEEEZETRE
HEEBXRBOBOTFE - RAEKRK
HERHELEREE -

FRERF

HE2015F12A31 8 Lt FE -
TEBBEDME BERSZE
2 45,204,000 7% jT ( 2014 F
115,964,000 7C) I BAEFEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

34. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY 34.
DISCLOSURES

During the year, the Group had significant transactions with
related parties, certain of which are also deemed to be
connected parties pursuant to the Listing Rules. Significant
transactions with these parties during the year are as follows:

(i) Related and connected party transactions

Name of parties Nature of transactions

BEALEE RHHE

HENBEALRE

FRAEEEBBAL(ETAL
R R B AR BB AR R AR AR 1 R R SE
ALVETERRS - FREAZEA
TETNERRZZWMT

(i) HERBEALIRZS

2015 2014
20155 20145
HK$'000 HK$'000

Tz FET

LMIML (as defined in note 20) Finished goods sold by the Group
BXEX(TERM20) SEHERAM
Electricity and steam fee received
by the Group
SEEMERLENER
Raw materials purchased
by the Group
SEEERA
Other materials purchased
by the Group
SEBEAMMH

Lee & Man Paper Products Company Licence fee expenses incurred
Limited (note i) by the Group
Bt AR A () EEFUEER N

Jiangsu Chemical (as defined in note 20) Income from supply of steam and
TEE T (E&RMH20) electricity
RUEZRRBNZBWA

Raw materials purchased by the Group

SEEERA
Rental income of office spaces

HNEYi kL N

Jiangxi Lee & Man Chemical Limited (note i)  Electricity and steam fee paid
TAEX I TARA A (HE) by the Group
SEENEERERAREE
Prepaid lease payments disposed of
by the Group
EEHERNBERE
Rental fee paid by the Group
SEENES

Nippon Paper (as defined in note 20) Technical assistance fee expenses
BARM(ER R MiT20) incurred by the Group
SERMEREXH

54,890 46,351

2,748 2,974

748

6,985

1,825

76,150

12,799

1,919

35,648

3,679
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

34. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY 34. HEARBEALHEE &)
DISCLOSURES (conminuep)
(i) Related and connected party transactions (i) HBERBEALRZ(#E)
(Continued)
notes: B 5E -
(i) The company is indirectly wholly owned by the spouse of Mr. Li (i FZRRBARAEEFLBELE
King Wai Ross (a director of the Company) who is also a daughter ZERBIMBAED B REEBRRR
of Mr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick, the ultimate controlling TEBREEZRABEELEY
shareholder of the Company. Ao
(i)  The company is beneficially owned and controlled by Mr. Lee Wan (i ERABFRAKEERBRRE
Keung Patrick, the ultimate controlling shareholder of the BRI EE SR RIS -
Company.
(ii) Related and connected party balances (i) HERBEEALGER
Details of the Group’s outstanding balances with related RNEEEEEHEA TR EIN A
parties who are also the connected parties are set out in EATZREBEHFBDH
the consolidated statement of financial position and note PR EE BRI K KM
20. 20 -
(iii) Compensation of key management (iii) TEEEEKSFHMN
personnel
The remunerations of the directors and other members of EENEMETEEEEXNER
key management during the year were as follows: FRZHE0AT

2015 2014

2015%F 20144

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FAT

Short-term benefits T HR 48 A 40,762 34,242
Post-employment benefits RIRAEF 36 17

40,798 34,259
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 Z Z2015€12H31H 1L F/Z

35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 35. KRR EEMEBRAFE

OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December

2015 and 2014 are as follows:

Place of incorporation/

Nominal value of
issued and fully paid

KRB EEMEBARR2015F K
2014512 A31 BB T ¢

establishment/registration share capital/
and operations registered capital Proportion ownership interest
Name of subsidiaries HREL/RY/ BRTRARRAEE/ held by the Company Principal activities
HEARER BEREELY EMER ARRfHEEEELA TERH
Directly Indirectly
23 G5
2014
20145
Able Advance International Limited British Virgin Islands (note i) Ordinary shares-US$4 = Investmentholding
RERRER (M) LER-4%ET RERR
Lee & Man Industries Company Limited  British Virgin Islands (note i) Ordinary share - US$1 100%  Investmentholding
EERRES (M) ERR- 13T REZR
Vantage Dragon Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares - HK$2 100%  Investmentholding
HMERRAR i LaR-28% RERR
Lee Kwok (Macao Commercial Offshore)  Macau MOP100,000 100%  Procurement of raw
Trading Limited ot #P1%100,0007 materials
HEA(EFPR=EERE) RERH
BFERAA
RREERRBBRA A The PRC (note i) Registered capital 100%  Manufacturing and
(DongguanLee& Man PE (Kl - US$ 156,480,000 trading of paper
Paper Factory Co. Ltd.) HER RELERES
~156,480,000% 7T
BREVEAERLA The PRC (note i) Registered capital 100%  Manufacturing and
(Guangdong Lee & Man Paper P (ki) - US$680,000,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Limited) HER FEEERES
~680,000,000% T
THEEABRAR The PRC (note i) Registered capital 100%  Manufacturing and
(liangsuLee & Man Paper Manufacturing & &1 (i &£ii) -US$393,000,000 trading of paper
CompanyLimited) FHER BHLERES
~393,000,000% 7T
EREESERAA) The PRC (note i) Registered capital 100%  Manufacturing and
(Chongging Lee & Man P (ki) -US$420,260,000 trading of paper and
Paper Manufacturing Limited) HER pulp
~420,260,000% T RERAREERES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 £ Z2015F 12 H31HIFF/E

35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 35. KRB EEMBRRFSE &)
OF THE COMPANY (conTinuED)

Nominal value of

Place of incorporation/ issued and fully paid
establishment/registration share capital/
and operations registered capital Proportion ownership interest
Name of subsidiaries SREL/RY/ BRTRARRAEE/ held by the Company Principal activities
KWEARER BRREELE EMEx ARRMEEREL IEER
Directly Indirectly
R B
2014
20145
IEEEABRAR The PRC (note i) Registered capital 100%  Manufacturing and
(liangyiLee & Man Paper Manufacturing & &0 (i &Fii) -Us$100,000,000 trading of paper
Limited) #fax FALERES
~100,000,000% 7T
EERELRAYEERAR The PRC (note i) Registered capital 100%  Manufacturing and
(ChonggingLee & Man P (ki) -US$30,000,000 trading of tissue
Tissue Manufacturing Limited) HER products
-30,000,000%7 BEEERTERES
Vietnam Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Vietnam US$135,762,655 100%  Manufacturingand
Limited i) 135,762,655% T trading of paper
notes: FiEE -
(i) These companies operate in Hong Kong. (i) ZENREEBEE -
(i) These companies are foreign investment enterprises established in the (i) ZERAREPEKLZIIERE DR
PRC. E
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in FRINNBESERATELELRSE
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or XEIEEEBENARRIMNE
assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other NAl - BEFRA  HNHEMHEBA
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in AR E IR R E AT BRRITE

particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at RERIFAEMER - SHEBAQ
the end of the year, or at any time during the year. AMETAREENEBLBES
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

R B B B AR AR

A summarised statement of financial position of the Company as at AN AR 20154 % 2014F12 318 28
31 December 2015 and 2014 is as follows: AR KRB AT

2015 2014

20154 2014%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TET

Investments in subsidiaries NG E =, 637,977 637,977
Amounts due from subsidiaries N ENGIE S 9,661,290 9,503,994
Tax recoverable A Y el F IE 825 —
Bank balances RIT 48R 4,556 4,868

Total assets BERE 10,304,648 10,146,839

Other payables FERE M ERE TR 5,756 6,331
Unsecured bank borrowings EIEFRITEE 5,755,002 4,966,379
Total liabilities BERE 5,760,758 4,973,210

4,543,890 5,173,629
Share capital R& 2 114,475 116,750
Reserves & 4,429,415 5,056,879
Total equity farEn 4,543,890 5,173,629
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

RN TF BB E ()

Note: PR EE
(i) Movements in reserves (i) fHEEE
Share  Contributed Retained Total
premium surplus profits reserve
BRADRE BHBEH BEEA e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2014 H2014F1 818 4,475,412 634,977 7,971 5,118,360
Shares repurchased and cancelled &7 B Bl Ko st 88 (110,496) — — (110,496)
Profit for the year FEAF — — 708,562 708,562
Dividends recognised as distributions REDRZIRE — — (659,547) (659,547)
At 31 December 2014 H201412A31H 4,364,916 634,977 56,986 5,056,879
Shares repurchased and cancelled &7 BB Bl Ko st 88 (409,062) — — (409,062)
Profit for the year FERBT — — 520,677 520,677
Dividends recognised as distributions REDIKZIE (390,329) — (348,750) (739,079)
At 31 December 2015 72015412 A31H 3,565,525 634,977 228,913 4,429,415

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference AN ATZ B REHTIANTEB2003F9
between the aggregate net tangible assets of the subsidiaries Az &£EBE&EHAMKEZHBATZEEE
acquired by the Company pursuant to a group reorganisation in  E H(EAFEEAN N 5 gz WS M 2217 2 f%
September 2003 and the nominal value of the Company’s shares  AREE 2 Z%E

issued for the acquisition.
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5th Floor, Liven House, 61-63 King Yip Street
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Tel: 2319 9889 Fax: 2319 9393
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